

Septum Formation and Cytokinesis in Ascomycete Fungi

STEPHAN SEILER^{1,2}, YVONNE HEILIG¹

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	15
II.	Spatial Cues: Mechanisms Specifying the	16
	Position of the Division Plane	16
	A. Positioning the Cell Division Plane in Unicellular Yeasts	16
	B. Septum Placement in Filamentous Ascomycete Fungi	18
	C. Signal Integration by Anillin-Type Landmark Proteins	19
III.	Temporal Cue(s): Coordination of Cell Cycle	
	Progression and Septation Initiation	21
	A. Coordination of Mitotic Exit and Initiation of Septation in Unicellular Yeasts	21
	B. The Septation Initiation Network in the <i>Pezizomycotina</i> Fungi	23
	C. Coordination of Nuclear Behavior and Septum Formation in <i>Pezizomycotina</i>	24
	Fungi	24
1V.	Assembly and Regulation of the Contractile Actomyosin Ring (CAR)	26
	A. CAR Assembly in Budding and Fission	
	Yeast	26
	B. CAR Assembly in the <i>Pezizomycotina</i>	27
	C. Crosstalk Between the SIN and the MOR	28
v	Cell Wall Biogenesis and Cell Division	20
۰.	A Coll Wall Biogenesis	29
	P. Sontum Examplian and Coll Division During	. 29
	Fungal Development	30
	C. Septal Pore-Associated Functions in Filamentous Ascomycete Fungi	32
VI.	Conclusions and Perspectives	33
,	References	33

I. Introduction

Cell division is a fundamental cellular process that is essential for proliferation of unicellular as well as multicellular organisms. It reflects the final stage of the cell cycle, during which a cell is physically divided into two daughter cells that contain a full set of chromosomes and other cellular organelles. Cytokinesis can be divided into several general steps that apply to most eukaryotic cells (Barr and Gruneberg 2007; Eggert et al. 2006): (1) the selection of the future cell division plane based on spatial as well as temporal cues, (2) the assembly of a cortical actomyosin ring (CAR) at this site, and (3) its constriction coupled with membrane invagination. In general, the formation of the CAR and its subsequent constriction is tightly coupled to the cell cycle to ensure that cell separation does not occur prior to chromosome segregation. (4) The formation of an extracellular cell wall, the septum, composed of glucans, chitin, and other polysaccharides in fungi further requires coordination of CAR constriction with secretion of cell wall biosynthetic and remodeling enzymes to build the extracellular septum. (5) This primary septum is covered by additional layers of cell wall material that form the secondary septum and is finally degraded by secreted hydrolytic enzymes in the unicellular yeasts and during sexual development of filament-forming molds to allow detachment of the two cells.

Several overviews have recently summarized the mechanistic principles underlying cell polarization and division in budding yeast and fission yeast, two unicellular fungi that consis-

> Biology of the Fungal Cell, 3rd Edition The Mycota VIII D. Hoffmeister, M. Gressler (Eds.) © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

¹ Institute for Biology II – Molecular Plant Physiology, Albert-Ludwigs University Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany; e-mail: Stephan.Seiler@biologie.uni-freiburg.de;

² Freiburg Institute for Advanced Studies (FRIAS), Albert-Ludwigs University Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

tently serve as conceptual framework for the analysis of fungal as well as higher eukaryotic cell biology (Pollard and Wu 2010; Bi and Park 2012; Weiss 2012; Martin and Arkowitz 2014). However, the vast majority of fungi forms mycelial colonies that consist of networks of branched hyphe. These cells grow by tip growth and are compartmentalized by septum that partition cellular environments within the hypha. In contrast to the unicellular yeasts, not every nuclear division triggers the formation of a new septum in mycelial fungi, and thus hyphal compartments are generally multinucleate. Moreover, a small septal pore is retained in higher fungi to enable intercellular communication and transport of cytoplasm and organelles between adjacent hyphal compartments. This controlled segmentation of hyphal units through septal cross walls in a multicellular mycelium is the basis for the morphological complexity achieved by the fungi during vegetative growth, differentiation, and infection processes and is thus a prerequisite for the evolutionary success of the fungal kingdom (Gull 1978; Pringle and Taylor 2002; Blackwell 2011).

The phylum Ascomycota comprises three major subphyla: Taphrinomycotina, Saccharomycotina, and Pezizomycotina (McLaughlin et al. 2009; Stajich et al. 2009). The subphylum of the Pezizomycotina contains over 90% of the Ascomycota species. Almost all species of this clade generate multinuclear hyphae that are compartmentalized by septa and include the model molds Aspergillus nidulans and Neurospora crassa. The Saccharomycotina contain the industrial yeasts and parasitic Canidida spec. species, dimorphic fungi that can switch between yeast and mycelial states (Sudbery 2011). Most members of the Saccharomycotina are unicellular, but this group also includes filamentous forms, such as Ashbya gossypii. This species is very closely related to Saccharomyces cerevisiae, and more than 90% of the genes are highly conserved in the two fungi (Dietrich et al. 2004; Wendland and Walther 2005), but the two species have developed dramatically different growth forms: constitutive multinucleate tip growth in A. gossypii versus unicellular growth in S. cerevisiae. The third subphylum includes

the *Schizosaccharomycetes* and other early diverging lineages and is primarily represented by *Schizosacchomyces pombe*. The monophyletic origin of this subphylum is still under debate, but most recent data support the monophyly of the taxon (James et al. 2006). Both filaments and yeasts are found in this subphylum, suggesting that both morphologies are ancestral in *Ascomycota*.

Despite the importance of septum for hyphae, proliferation, and differentiation in filamentous fungi, our understanding of septum formation and its regulation is highly fragmentary (Harris 2001; Seiler and Justa-Schuch 2010; Mourino-Perez and Riquelme 2013). In this review, we will focus on recent progress that confirms the use of conserved molecular modules during cell division in the unicellular yeasts and during septum formation in the filamentous fungi. However, it is also becoming apparent that proper placement and regulated formation and function of septa in the different phylogenetic groups of Ascomycota requires significant rewiring and species-specific adaptation of these conserved modules (Gu et al. 2015).

II. Spatial Cues: Mechanisms Specifying the Position of the Division Plane

A. Positioning the Cell Division Plane in Unicellular Yeasts

The regulatory pathways that control the spatial aspects to place the future cell division plane are poorly conserved among different eukaryotic organisms despite the high importance of a tight coordination of cytokinesis with chromosome and organelle segregation. For example, the two model yeasts S. cerevisiae and S. pombe developed fundamentally have distinct mechanisms to control the spatial aspects for placing the future cell division plane (Fig. 1a, b). The bud-site selection system of budding yeast relies on cortical cues of the previous cell division cycle in order to redirect the dividing nucleus to the bud neck, while the position



0 С A. gossypii, C. albicans hypha 0 0 0 0

Fig. 1 Diverse types of spatial signals regulate septum placement and cell division plane. (a) The site of cell division in fission yeast is chosen based on a positive signal provided by the position of the pre-mitotic nucleus and negative signals from the two cell ends. (b) A transient cortical landmark at the bud scar functions as a spatial memory from one cell cycle to the next in budding yeast. *a* or α cells divide axially, such that dividing cells form their buds immediately adjacent to the site of the previous cell separation. a/α cells exhibit a bipolar budding pattern and place the new bud either proximal or distal to the site of the previous cell division. (c) Cortical cues deposited at the hyphal tip may trigger septum position in the filament-forming Saccharomycotina species A. gossy-

pii and C. albicans. The cue for landmark deposition at the tip has been proposed to be reduced tip elongation as a consequence of septum formation in the subapical region of the hypha. (d) A tip-high inhibitory gradient has been proposed in A. nidulans to restrict septum formation in growing germlings until a certain cell size is reached. (e) A similar tip-high inhibitory signal has been proposed for mature N. crassa hyphae, where the new septum is placed when the apical cell reaches a critical size of approximately 250 µm. (f) Unlike S. pombe, where the position of the pre-mitotic nucleus serves as positive signal, the majority of septa in A. nidulans are formed at a position corresponding to a location in between two pairs of previously mitotic nuclei

ŀ

of the fission yeast nucleus itself specifies the future plane of cell division (Chang and Peter 2003). Both mechanisms are dissected at the molecular level, and the reader is referred to recent reviews for details (Laporte et al. 2010; Pollard and Wu 2010; Bi and Park 2012; Weiss 2012).

Briefly, budding yeast cells divide in two precise spatial patterns (Chant and Herskowitz 1991). a or α cells divide axially, such that dividing cells form their buds immediately adjacent to the site of the previous cell separation. a/α cells exhibit a bipolar budding pattern and place the new bud either proximal or distal to the site of the previous cell division. The axial budding pattern depends on a transient cortical landmark consisting of the Bud3p-Bud4p complex that binds to the transmembrane glycoprotein Axl2p (Gao et al. 2007; Kang et al. 2012; Wu et al. 2015). The localization of these proteins acts as a spatial memory from one cell cycle to the next. An Axl2p containing spot localizes to the cell cortex at the time of bud emergence and serves together with the encircling septin ring as a landmark to recruit Bud3p and Bud4p. This Bud3p-Bud4p-Axl2 complex matures at the mother-bud neck into a double ring, and one ring is passed to each daughter cell, marking the previous site of attachment. This localization of the landmark complex at the mother-bud neck depends on the integrity of the septin collar; thus the Bud3p-Bud4p complex rings are likely assembling through the direct interaction with the septins (Wloka et al. 2011; Eluere et al. 2012; Kang et al. 2013). In the next round of budding, these cortical marker proteins recruit a Rasrelated GTPase module (consisting of the GTPase Rsr1p/Bud1p, its GTPase-activating protein (GAP) Bud2p, and guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) Bud5p) to the future bud site, which organizes the morphogenetic machinery toward the site of growth. At this site a new septin ring and Axl2p spot is formed generating a cyclic pattern of interdependence between the septins and the axial landmark proteins throughout the cell cycle.

The **fission yeast** *S. pombe* grows by elongation at its two ends and divides by medial fission, generating two roughly equally sized daughter cells. In contrast to budding yeast, in which the division site is solely determined by cortical cues, the division site in fission yeast is chosen based on a positive signal provided by the position of the pre-mitotic nucleus and negative signals from the two cell ends. Microtubules control the positioning of the nucleus at the cell center through opposing pushing forces generated by the dynamic instability of the microtubule system (Daga and Chang 2005; Tran et al. 2001). Furthermore, the bipolar longitudinal orientation of the microtubule system marks the cell ends by transporting the Tea1-Tea4 polarity complex to the tips, where it is tethered to the cortex through the prenylated protein Mod5 (Snaith et al. 2005; Snaith and Sawin 2003). This complex recruits the Dyrk family kinase Pom1 and other, yet undefined factors, to the cell ends (Bähler et al. 1998; Tatebe et al. 2005). A key factor that integrates both types of spatial signals is the anillin-related but S. pombe-specific protein Mid1. Mid1 reads the nuclear localization by shuttling between the nucleus and the adjacent cell cortex, where it forms a series of ca. 50 cortical dots that later in the cell cycle assemble and recruit CAR components (Almonacid et al. 2009; Celton-Morizur et al. 2006; Padte et al. 2006). The restriction of these interphase nodes to the cell center depends on Pom1-dependent and other inhibitory signals that are generated from both cell poles (Celton-Morizur et al. 2006; Huang et al. 2007; Padte et al. 2006; Rincon et al. 2014). In addition, Pom1 also phosphorylates the F-BAR protein Cdc15, a central component of the CAR, to inhibit CAR assembly at cell ends (Ullal et al. 2015).

B. Septum Placement in Filamentous Ascomycete Fungi

In contrast to the in-depth understanding of spatial signals present in the two unicellular yeast models, we have only very limited data about the presence and nature of positional cues that regulate septum placement in filamentous ascomycete fungi. It has been proposed that cortical cues deposited at the hyphal tip may trigger septum position in the filament-forming Saccharomycotina species Ashbya gossypii (Kaufmann and Philippsen 2009; Fig. 1c). Although attractive, this hypothesis is primarily based on the observation that cortical marker proteins homologous to the S. cerevisiae Bud3p-Bud4p-septin landmark complex and associated proteins, such as the F-BAR scaffold protein Hof1, a central organizer of the CAR in both yeast models, are deposited at the hyphal tip in A. gossypii and Candida albicans at the time when tip growth slows as a consequence of septum formation in the subapical region of the hypha (Sudbery 2001; Wightman et al. 2004; Knechtle et al. 2003; DeMay et al. 2009; Helfer and Gladfelter 2006; Gonzalez-Novo et al. 2008; Kaufmann and Philippsen 2009). Moreover, effective progression through the cell cycle seems to require repositioning of migrating nuclei to these preselected sites for efficient initiation of septation (Alberti-Segui et al. 2001; Finley and Berman 2005; Helfer and Gladfelter 2006; Finley et al. 2008). Nuclear position relative to the imprinted septation sites may thus be a consequence of morphogenetic markers placed at the incipient bud site in unicellular or the tip growth in filamentous species of the Saccharomycotina clade. Clearly, this hypothesis needs further experimental support, especially because the mechanism(s) by which the bud-septin complex is deposited at the tip to mark future septation sites has not been addressed at the molecular level.

No changes in the rate of tip extension are observed during mitosis, septum formation, and branch initiation in A. nidulans and N. crassa hyphae (Horio and Oakley 2005; Jackson 2001; Riquelme and Bartnicki-Garcia 2004; Riquelme et al. 2003; Sampson et al. 2003). Thus, no growth rate-dependent septum to tip signal can exist in these species of the *Pezizomycotina* clade to mark future septation sites analogous to that proposed for the filamentous Saccharomycotina species. An alternative explanation may be an inhibitory gradient originating from the tip that overrides positive yet still undefined signals generated from the nuclei. Such a tip-high inhibitory gradient has been proposed in A. nidulans to restrict septum formation in growing germlings until a certain cell size is reached (Kaminskyj 2000; Wolkow et al. 1996; Harris 2001) (Fig. 1d). Although the nature of this proposed gradient is currently unknown, homologs of the S. pombe Teal-Tea4 system may represent an attractive possibility (Fischer et al. 2008; Higashitsuji et al. 2009; Konzack et al. 2005; Takeshita et al. 2008, 2014; Takeshita and Fischer 2011). A. nidulans TeaA and TeaR, functional homologs of the S. pombe cell-end marker Tea1 and its membrane anchor Mod5, localize in an interdependent manner to the hyphal tip and colocalize there with the formin SepA (Takeshita et al. 2008). Deletion of either TeaA or TeaR results in wavy and meandering growth, indicating that the apical localization of these cell-end markers is required for stabilizing the axis of growth polarity. Interestingly, TeaC, the homolog of S. pombe Tea4, localizes to septa in addition to its presence at the hyphal tip (Higashitsuji et al. 2009). Overexpression of TeaC does not affect apical tip extension rates but represses septation and generates almost aseptate strains, while deletion of *teaC* results in increased septation, consistent with the hypothesis of positioning factors that inhibit septum formation in the tip region to regulate compartment size in growing hyphae. This view is consistent with recent data obtained for N. crassa that also support some kind of sizesensing mechanism for septum placement (Delgado-Alvarez et al. 2014; Fig. 1e). When mature N. crassa tip cells reach a critical size of ca. 250 µm, a new septum is initiated approximately 165 µm distal of the tip. However, unlike *S. pombe*, where the position of the pre-mitotic nucleus serves as additional positive signal, the majority of septa in A. *nidulans* are formed at a position corresponding to a location in between two pairs of previously mitotic nuclei (Fig. 1f; Shen et al. 2014), and the precise involvement of nuclear behavior in septum placement remains unclear (also see Sect. III-C).

C. Signal Integration by Anillin-Type Landmark Proteins

Despite the poor conservation of spatial cues, anillin-type landmark proteins coordinate these spatial signals and are thus critical for organizing the future site of cell division in all fungi that have been analyzed to date. Also,

vertebrate anillin is among the first proteins that are recruited to the cleavage site of dividing cells (Cabernard et al. 2010; Piekny and Glotzer 2008), suggesting conserved functions of this class of poorly defined proteins in orchestrating cell division plate. In animals, anillin functions as scaffold for the Rho GTPase RhoA and its regulators ECT2/Pbl and RacGAP50C at the cleavage furrow (D'Avino et al. 2008; Gregory et al. 2008; Hickson and O'Farrell 2008). Also Bud4p and the fission yeast homolog, the Mid1related protein Mid2, interact with specific Rho GTPase modules and are recruited to the incipient separation site in a septin-dependent manner. In budding yeast, the axial landmark Bud3p, Bud4p, and Axl2p assemble into a protein complex at mitosis. Septin filaments first recruit Bud4p and Bud3p, which interact through their C-termini, to the bud neck (Gao et al. 2007; Kang et al. 2012, 2013; Wu et al. 2015). Bud3p has weak GEF activity toward the Rho GTPase Cdc42p and can activate Cdc42p in vivo (Kang et al. 2014), which may be one important aspect for organizing the morphogenetic machinery. In fission yeast septin rings are involved primarily in cell-cell separation after the septum has formed. The fission yeast anillin Mid2 localizes as a ring in the middle of the cell after anaphase in a septin- and actin-dependent manner and influences septin ring organization (Tasto et al. 2003; Berlin et al. 2003). The GEF Gef3 interacts with Rho3^{GTP} in vitro and functions as activator of Rho4 in vivo. Gef3 colocalizes and physically interacts with septins and Mid2 and requires septins and Mid2 for its localization (Munoz et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2015). Together these data support that Gef3 interacts with the septin complex and activates one or several Rho GTPases as a Rho GEF for septation in fission yeast. Similar modules, consisting of the Rho GTPase Rho4/RHO-4, its GEF Bud3/BUD-3, and the anillin Bud4/BUD-4, are required for septum formation in the filamentous ascomycetes A. nidulans and N. crassa (Justa-Schuch et al. 2010; Si et al. 2010, 2012; Rasmussen and Glass 2005). Thus, a general function of anillins may be the organization of a Rho GTPase-GAP-GEF module at the future cytokinetic site (D'Avino 2009; Zhang and Maddox 2010; Seiler and Justa-Schuch 2010).

The septins in budding yeast bud4 Δ cells fail to form a double ring during cytokinesis, while overexpression of Bud4p causes extra septin structures (Wloka et al. 2011; Eluere et al. 2012; Kang et al. 2013), suggesting a positive feedback in the organization of septin collar and axial landmark complex. A positive feedback for the cortical recruitment of the anillin-RHO-4 GTPase module was also described for N. crassa (Justa-Schuch et al. 2010), where localization of BUD-3 depends on BUD-4, whose localizations in turn lead to the recruitment and activation of RHO-4. However, the stable cortex association of BUD-3 and BUD-4 also requires RHO-4. This feedback also allows the stable accumulation of the BUD-3-BUD-4-RHO-4 complex at presumptive septation sites prior to the initiation of septum formation.

Recent structural data of animal anillin and S. pombe Mid1 defined several functional regions of these two proteins despite their poor conservation at the sequence level (Fig. 2). The N-terminal regions of both proteins bind to multiple components of the CAR machinery, and Mid1 and animal anillin have functional exchangeable Nterminal domains (D'Avino 2009; Piekny and Maddox 2010; Watanabe et al. 2010; El Amine et al. 2013; Sun et al. 2015). This region can bind active myosin and can bundle actin filaments (Field and Alberts 1995; Straight et al. 2003). The central region of anillin carries an anillinhomology domain, which contains a coiled-coil region that—in animal anillin—harbors a welldefined RhoA-binding domain, followed by a membrane-binding C2 domain that forms β sandwich structure. Moreover, the Mid1 C2 domain allows dimerization. The C-terminus of anillin possesses a PH domain that binds septins and phospholipids (Liu and Young 2012; Oegema et al. 2000; Sun et al. 2015). Although both animal anillin and Mid1 attach to the plasma membrane via the same core elements of the C2 domain and the conserved PH domains, the PH domain of Mid1 is not essential for membrane anchorage (Sun et al. 2015; Lee and Wu 2012; Paoletti and Chang 2000; Liu and Young 2012).

Most fungal anillin-like proteins cluster phylogenetically with *S. pombe* Mid2, which promotes cell separation as a late-acting septindependent scaffold, but does not influence cell



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of functional regions of fungal and animal anillins. *AHD* anillin-homology domain, *RBD* RhoA-binding domain, *C2* membrane-

binding module, *CON* connector domain, *PH* Pleckstrin homology domain. For detailed explanation, refer to the text

division plate positioning. Mid1 and Mid2 arouse by gene duplication followed by functional divergence (a duplication that is specific for the genus *Schizosaccharomyces*), suggesting that the ancestral and conserved function of fungal anillin-related proteins is to scaffold CAR complexes in a septin-dependent manner (Gu and Oliferenko 2015; Gu et al. 2015; Moseley 2015). This is also supported by the recent finding that Mid1 of the close relative Schizosaccharomyces japonicus serves as an interphase cortical anchor for type II myosin, and the medial assembly of the CAR in mitotic S. japonicus cells relies on the cortical anchor protein Cdc15 instead of Mid1, which is regulated by a tiplocalized Pom1 gradient (Gu and Oliferenko 2015; Gu et al. 2015; Moseley 2015).

III. Temporal Cue(s): Coordination of Cell Cycle Progression and Septation Initiation

A. Coordination of Mitotic Exit and Initiation of Septation in Unicellular Yeasts

The localization of the anillin-related landmark proteins Mid1 and Bud4p provides the spatial

cue for septum placement in the two model yeasts. In addition, a GTPase-coupled kinase cascade-known as mitotic exit network (MEN) and septation initiation network (SIN) in budding and fission yeast, respectivelymediates the strict temporal coordination of cell cycle progression and cell division in the two unicellular fungi (Fig. 3a, b; Meitinger et al. 2012, Johnson et al. 2012). At the end of mitosis, the spindle pole body (SPB)-associated ras superfamily GTPase Spg1 is activated by the polo kinase Plo1 in fission yeast. This is achieved by phosphorylation, and thereby inhibition of its bipartite GTPase-activating protein (GAP) Cdc16-Byr4 results in recruitment of the STE kinase Cdc7 to activated Spg1 at the SPBs. Two additional SPB-associated kinases Sid1 and Sid2, with their respective regulatory subunits Cdc14 and Mob1, are part of the SIN. Localization studies suggest a hierarchical order of Cdc7-Sid1-Sid2, although biochemical evidence for a linear cascade is lacking (Johnson et al. 2012). Phosphorylation of the Cdc14 phosphatase Clp1 by the nuclear Dbf2p-related (NDR) effector kinase Sid2 promotes mitotic exit by counteracting the function of the cyclin kinase Cdc2 (Chen et al. 2008a). However, the SIN is not required for controlling mitotic exit, and SIN inactivation generates multinucleated



Fig. 3 Composition and regulation of the septation initiation network. (a) A GTPase-coupled, tripartite kinase cascade regulates initiation of septation in S. pombe. SPB-association of the effector kinase Sid2 depends on the two upstream kinases Sid1 and Cdc7, yet biochemical proof of a stepwise phosphorylation and activation of the three kinases is lacking. Positive feedback is provided by Sid2-dependent phosphorylation of the scaffold Cdc11, which is counteracted by the septation-inhibitory phosphatase complex SIP. (b) The related mitotic exit network (MEN) of budding yeast lacks a homolog of the fission yeast kinase Sid1, and the effector kinase Dbf2p is directly phosphorylated by the Cdc7 homolog Cdc15p. Recruitment of Dbf2p to SPBs and MEN activation also requires phosphorylation of the MEN scaffold Nud1p by Cdc15p. (c) A tripartite

cells, while overexpression of positive-acting SIN components causes the formation of multiple septum (Fankhauser and Simanis 1994; Ohkura et al. 1995; Schmidt et al. 1997). In both scenarios cell division is uncoupled from nuclear division. The assembly and subsequent constriction of the CAR that triggers septum formation requires the relocation of the active Sid2-Mob1 kinase complex, yet not the other SIN components, from the SPBs to the cell cortex (Roberts-Galbraith and Gould 2008; Hachet and Simanis 2008). The mechanisms that target the Sid2-Mob1 complex to the cell cortex are yet elusive.

The related **mitotic exit network (MEN) of budding yeast** has a similar composition and functions in an analogous manner (Meitinger et al. 2012). However, several significant differences exist (Fig. 3a, b). First, the MEN lacks a homolog of the fission yeast kinase Sid1, and the effector kinase Dbf2p is directly phosphorylated by the Cdc7 homolog Cdc15p (Mah et al. 2001). The Dbf2p phosphosites identified in

kinase cascade homologous to the fission yeast SIN also regulates septum formation in A. nidulans. However, SPB association of the SIN kinases through the scaffold SepK is not critical for septum formation, and SidB activation likely occurs in the cytosol. (d) The N. crassa SIN acts as cascade of three kinases, in which CDC-7 promotes the activity of SID-1, which in turn activates DBF-2 through hydrophobic motif phosphorylation. An additional kinase, MST-1, acts in parallel to SID-1 and is negatively regulated by interaction with CDC-7. This may allow fine-tuning of the SIN by generating an incoherent type 4 feedforward loop through the two, parallel functioning, but oppositely regulated CDC-7/ SID-1 and CDC-7/MST-1 complexes that together control DBF-2 activity. SPB-association of these SIN components is not required for septum formation

this study correspond to sites highly conserved in other fungal NDR kinases (Hou et al. 2004; Jansen et al. 2006; Maerz et al. 2012), suggesting that Dbf2p activation involves activation segment autophosphorylation and phosphorylation of its C-terminal hydrophobic motif through Cdc15p. Second, recruitment of the Dbf2p-Mob1p complex to SPBs (and thus MEN activation) requires phosphorylation of the MEN scaffold protein Nud1p by upstream kinase Cdc15p (Mah et al. 2001; Rock et al. 2013). This differs from the positive feedback mechanism of the fission yeast SIN assembly at the SPB, in which the scaffold Cdc11 is phosphorylated by the effector kinase Sid2 to promote enhanced interaction with the upstream kinase Cdc7 (Feoktistova et al. 2012). Third, budding yeast MEN strictly controls mitotic exit, and consequently MEN mutants arrest at a late mitotic state with a CAR that has formed, but is unable to constrict (Yoshida et al. 2006), while S. pombe SIN mutants produce multinucleate cells.

B. The Septation Initiation Network in the *Pezizomycotina* Fungi

The MEN also controls mitotic spindle orientation and nuclear segregation in yeast cells of C. albicans. Depletion of the MEN effector kinase Dbf2 results in growth arrest after the assembly of the actomyosin ring, indicating that MEN activity is also essential for CAR contraction, but not for CAR assembly (Gonzalez-Novo et al. 2009). Consequently septum formation is also inhibited in C. albicans filaments. As in yeast cells, Calcofluor White-stainable material still accumulates at presumptive septation sites, suggesting that CAR assembly is still possible and constriction is blocked, but this has not been addressed experimentally. However, not all C. albicans MEN mutant share identical defects, arguing against a simple and linear signal cascade and supporting distinct functions of individual MEN components. For example, unlike Tem1p-depleted S. cerevisiae cells, which arrest as large-budded cells as any other MEN mutant in budding yeast, GTPase-depleted C. albicans forms filaments that originate from largebudded yeast cells, suggesting that the GTPase Tem1 has an important, MEN-independent function for filament induction (Milne et al. 2014). The hyphae generated in a Tem1-depleted strain are binucleated and arrested in telophase with an elongated spindle, indicating that the MEN operates normally in these filaments and that MEN deficiency blocks mitotic exit after one round of nuclear division.

In contrast, the A. gossypii MEN has been suggested to function as linear GTPase-coupled bipartite kinase cascade, an assumption that was based on common mutant defects of deleting any MEN component (Finlayson et al. 2011). However, in contrast to S. cerevisiae or C. albicans, where the MEN controls mitotic exit at the anaphase stage, A. gossypii MEN mutants are enriched for metaphase nuclei, and thus the MEN seems to function earlier in the cell cycle of this organism. Also, cell cycle control is not absolute, and the multinuclear status of the hyphal compartments is maintained. As in C. albicans, the A. gossypii MEN is also essential for septum formation, and MEN mutants form aseptate hyphae (Finlayson et al. 2011).

In summary, a common denominator for the MEN in the three *Saccharomycotina* species seems to be a central role in CAR constriction but not CAR assembly. The regulation of the MEN and a mechanistic basis for its importance during septum formation in the filamentous context has not been addressed.

The SIN in the Pezizomycotina models A. nidulans and N. crassa functions as threeleveled kinase cascade that is activated by an upstream GTPase module as described for fission yeast. Deletion of any positive-acting SIN component in either fungus results in aseptate strains with no CAR formed, while no involvement in cell cycle control has been described (Bruno et al. 2001; Kim et al. 2006, 2009; Heilig et al. 2013; Maerz et al. 2009). All SIN components localize to the SPBs and—with the exception of the scaffold proteins and the upstream kinase—to constricting septa (Heilig et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2009). The N. crassa SIN components accumulate at the cell cortex several minutes prior to initiation of septum constriction, arguing for their involvement in CAR assembly, while CDC-7 is recruited to the forming septum only after septum constriction had started (Heilig et al. 2013, 2014). Similarly, the SidB-MobA module of A. nidulans associates with constricting septa (Kim et al. 2006, 2009), while SepH does neither associate with forming nor mature septum (De Souza et al. 2014).

Although the function of the SIN as linear acting GTPase-coupled kinase device has originally been assumed for both fungi (e.g., Harris 2001; Seiler and Justa-Schuch 2010), recent data suggest a more complicated network of kinases (Fig. 3c, d). The *N. crassa* SIN acts as cascade of three kinases, in which CDC-7 promotes the activity of SID-1, which in turn activates DBF-2 through hydrophobic motif phosphorylation (Heilig et al. 2013). However, an additional kinase, MST-1, acts in parallel to SID-1 and is negatively regulated by interaction with CDC-7 (Heilig et al. 2014). A possible function of MST-1 in fine-tuning the SIN may be achieved in the generation of an incoherent type 4 feedforward loop through the two, parallel functioning, but oppositely regulated CDC-7/SID-1 and CDC-7/ MST-1 complexes that together control DBF-2 activity. This rarely found regulatory motif may allow for adaptive and thus robust SIN activity (Rodrigo and Elena 2011). This hypothesis is supported by the phenotypic characteristics of *N. crassa SIN* mutants, which revealed less severe septation defects of *sid-1* and *mst-1* mutants compared to strains deficient for *cdc-7* or *dbf-2* (Maerz et al. 2009; Heilig et al. 2013, 2014). The biochemical data obtained in this study also imply that the CDC-7/MST-1 complex may function independently of the GTPase SPG-1 (Heilig et al. 2014), a speculation that requires further exploration.

Interestingly, MST-1 is also essential for sexual development (Heilig et al. 2014), and mutants in the Sordaria macrospora homolog SmSTK24 was recently found to interact with the STRIPAK (striatin-associated phosphatase and kinase) complex (Bloemendal et al. 2012; Frey et al. 2015). Although the N. crassa STRI-PAK complex does not localize to septa and has with primarily been associated nuclearcytoplasmic distribution of the cell wall integrity MAP kinase MAK-1 (Dettmann et al. 2013), several S. macrospora STRIPAK mutants form aseptate ascogonia (although vegetative septation is normal (Bloemendal et al. 2010). It is tempting to predict the involvement of the STRIPAK complex at an early stage of sexual development in the Pezizomycotina fungi. Intriguingly, the S. pombe STRIPAK complex has also been associated with regulating the SIN. This SINinhibitory phosphatase (SIP) complex counteracts the positive feedback generated by Sid2dependent phosphorylation of Cdc11 by dephosphorylating the scaffold (Singh et al. 2011).

C. Coordination of Nuclear Behavior and Septum Formation in *Pezizomycotina* Fungi

CAR assembly and septum formation are clearly controlled through nuclear position and cell cycle progression in *A. nidulans* (Harris et al. 1994; Wolkow et al. 1996). This may potentially also apply to *N. crassa*, although the connection between nuclear cycle and septum positioning is blurred by its nuclear asynchrony (Plamann et al. 1994; Minke et al. 1999; Seiler and Justa-Schuch 2010). The recent finding that circadian rhythms can synchronize mitosis via the *N*. *crassa* homolog of the WEE-1 kinase (Hong et al. 2014) might provide a platform for a more detailed analysis. Septum placement was originally proposed to depend on the position of mitotic nuclei in *A. nidulans* (Momany and Hamer 1997; Bruno et al. 2001; Harris 2001), but detailed life imaging recently revealed that the majority of septa formed at a position corresponding to a location in between two pairs of previously mitotic nuclei (Shen et al. 2014; Fig. 1c). Moreover, septum formation still occurs when the microtubule cytoskeleton was destroyed, indicating that initiation and completion of septation does not require microtubules.

Although we have currently no mechanistic understanding concerning the coordination of nuclear behavior and septation, a number of candidate proteins/pathways have been analyzed, the most obvious being the SIN. Although all components of the SIN localize to SPBs in A. nidulans and N. crassa, no involvement in controlling cell cycle progression has been observed in either species during vegetative growth (Bruno et al. 2001; Kim et al. 2009; Heilig et al. 2013, 2014). Moreover, in contrast to the yeasts, where SPB association of the SIN/ MEN components is essential for activation of the NDR effector kinase and the subsequent recruitment of the NDR kinase-Mob1 complex to the cell cortex for cytokinesis (Morrell et al. 2004; Rosenberg et al. 2006), SIN activation and septum formation in A. nidulans and N. crassa does not require SPB association (Kim et al. 2009; Heilig and Seiler, unpublished). This is consistent with the observation that the A. nidulans Polo kinase PlkA is not a central regulator of septum formation and has only a minor function in cell cycle control (Bachewich et al. 2005; Mogilevsky et al. 2012). Consequently, activation of the SIN may not be mediated through PlkA as established for the MEN/SIN through the budding and fission yeast Polo kinases Cdc5p and Plo1, respectively (Ohkura et al. 1995; Song et al. 2000). Finally, the two scaffold proteins SnaD and SepK (structural homologs of Sid4 and Cdc11 in S. pombe, respectively) that are necessary to anchor SIN components to the spindle pole body in A. nidulans are not critical for septum formation, and mutations in either scaffold only result in

delayed septation (Kim et al. 2009). Thus, SPB association of the SIN might modulate temporal aspects of septum formation, but details of a mechanistic involvement of the SIN in coordinating nuclear behavior with septation during vegetative hyphal growth remain obscure.

Interestingly, it was recently shown that SepH concentrates in the basal region of the apical cells as cytosolic foci in addition to its association with mitotic SPB in A. nidulans (De Souza et al. 2014). Cytosolic SepH foci were particularly prominent in periods preceding septation and resulted in a preferential association of SepH with the SPB of mitotic nuclei, which were located distal from the tip. Moreover, SepH associated with SPB in a biphasic manner first during mitosis and again during the period of septum formation, suggesting that the predominant-basal activation of the SIN [if SPB-association can serve as marker for SIN activity as described for fission yeast; (Johnson et al. 2012)] might help restricting SIN activity to the basal region of the tip cell to promote asymmetric septation in A. nidulans. These cytosolic foci were also observed for the N. crassa homolog CDC-7 (Heilig et al. 2013, 2014) but not for any of the other SIN kinases or respective regulatory subunits in N. crassa (Heilig et al. 2013, 2014; Dettmann et al. 2012) or the SidB-MobA module in A. nidulans (Kim et al. 2006, 2009). CDC-7 kinase activity is not required for cytosolic clustering of the protein and its association with SPBs in *N. crassa*, and CDC-7 foci were more abundant when a kinase dead version of CDC-7 was localized (Heilig et al. 2014). No asymmetric localization of CDC-7 was noticed in N. crassa, but only mature hyphae were analyzed, in which fast cytosolic flow rates likely had mixed any potential gradient of CDC-7 clusters. A potential function of these cytosolic CDC-7 speckles might be suggested by the co-purification of the microtubule-organizing center (MTOC) component NCU12004 (homolog of A. nidulans ApsB and S. pombe Mto1) with CDC-7 yet with none of the other SIN components in N. crassa (Heilig et al. 2014). MT nucleation occurs primarily at centrosomes/SPBs, but more diverse types of cytosolic MTOC also exist. The mechanisms for the generation of this MTOC diversity are poorly understood, but it is essential for functional MT organization in fungi and higher eukaryotes. Mto1/ApsB is central for cytosolic MTOC assembly and function (Samejima et al. 2010; Lynch et al. 2014), and ApsB is recruited to the septal pore through a peroxisome-dependent pathway to form septum-associated MTOCs (Veith et al. 2005; Zekert et al. 2010). Intriguingly, CDC-7 localization around the mature septal pore in N. crassa (Heilig et al. 2014) displays striking similarities with the sepal pore localization of ApsB and γ -tubulin in A. nidulans (Zekert et al. 2010). Future analysis should therefore consider the speculation that these cytosolic clusters might represent non-SPB-associated MTOCs.

Other candidate proteins that are involved in coordinating nuclear behavior with septum biology in A. nidulans are the cyclin kinase NimX^{Cdk1} and the NEK-family kinase NimA. Septum formation depends on a threshold level of activity of the NimX^{Cdk1} (Harris 2001; Harris and Kraus 1998; Kraus and Harris 2001). How NimX^{Cdk1} coordinates nuclear division with septum in A. nidulans remains unresolved. NimA functions as central regulator of multiple stage-specific aspects of mitosis. Key functions of NimA are chromatin condensation through histone H3 phosphorylation and the partial opening of the nuclear envelope though disassembly of nuclear pore complex (De Souza et al. 2000, 2004). NimA also has interphasespecific functions such as regulating microtubule dynamics and thus tip growth and was shown to localize at the tip growth and microtubule plus ends in a EB1-dependent manner (Govindaraghavan et al. 2014). Important in the context of septum formation is the recruitment of NimA to the cell cortex prior to the initiation of septum constriction (Shen et al. 2014). Intriguingly, the fission yeast NimA homolog Fin1 is activated for mitotic commitment by phosphorylation through the NDR kinase Sid2 (Grallert et al. 2012; not to be confused with Plo1-dependent activation of the SIN at mitotic exit). In G2 phase, the Sid2-Mob1 complex acts independently of other SIN components such as the scaffold Cdc11 to control the timing of mitotic entry, suggesting that Sid2 activation does not occur at the SPBs. Although highly speculative, activation and/or recruitment of NimA by SidB to cortical sites (primed by unknown cues) might be involved in triggering initiation of septum constriction. Moreover, in contrast to other protein machinery required for septum formation in *A. nidulans* such as type II myosin MyoB (Hill et al. 2015), NimA is maintained at the septal pore after septum constriction has terminated (Shen et al. 2014). It is thus possible that NimA at this position controls the regulated closure of septal pores in a cell cycle-dependent manner in order to restrict leakage of nuclear proteins into subapical compartments during the parasynchronous mitoses of the nuclei present in the apical cell.

IV. Assembly and Regulation of the Contractile Actomyosin Ring (CAR)

A. CAR Assembly in Budding and Fission Yeast

Significant advances have allowed establishing the approximate spatiotemporal sequence of

events during assembly and constriction of the CAR that drives cytokinesis in the two yeasts (Bi and Park 2012; Pollard and Wu 2010). In fission yeast, two independent but synergistic pathways driven by the anillin-related landmark protein Mid1 and the SIN control assembly of the CAR (Pollard and Wu 2010, Bathe and Chang 2010, Johnson et al. 2012; Fig. 4a). Interestingly, both pathways are controlled by the Polo kinase Plo1. This central cell cycle kinase is therefore exerting spatial control through regulating Mid1 localization and is also providing the temporal cue through regulation of SIN activity. Cortical, Mid1-containing dots recruit class II myosin, the formin Cdc12, and other components to form medial nodes that allow F-actin nucleation early in mitosis. Search-capture-pull-release interactions between myosin and f-actin from distinct nodes form a highly organized ring (Wu et al. 2006; Vavylonis et al. 2008; Laporte et al. 2011; Lee and Wu 2012; Saha and Pollard 2012). Also, actin filaments assembled by the formin Cdc12 at nonmedial sites are transported to the division site in a myosin-dependent manner and are integrated into the maturing ring (Huang



Fig. 4 Spatiotemporal sequence of events that control assembly and constriction of the CAR. (a) Two independent, but synergistic pathways driven by anillin-related landmark proteins and the SIN/MEN control assembly and/or constriction of the CAR in budding and fission yeast. SIN activity also inhibits the MOR network, which

is required for timely cell separation. (b) Unknown cues initiate the formation of the septal actomyosin tangle SAT in the *Pezizomycotina* fungi. SAT initiation, CAR formation, and CAR constriction are regulated at various levels by the anillin-Rho GTPase complex and the interplay of the SIN and MOR kinase networks et al. 2012). However, Mid1 nodes are not essential for CAR assembly, and *mid1* mutants produce misplaced septa in the anaphase. This indicates the presence of a second, SINdependent pathway that is responsible for CAR assembly in late mitosis (Huang et al. 2008; Hachet and Simanis 2008; Roberts-Galbraith and Gould 2008). Because *sin* mutants form only a transient CAR that is instable, these data suggest that the primary task of Mid1 is providing positional information, while the SIN is required for CAR maturation. Moreover, CAR constriction also requires SIN activity.

The maturation of the CAR from cortical nodes requires phosphorylation of several independent targets by the terminal SIN kinase Sid2. First, the recruitment of the F-BAR scaffold protein Cdc15 to the medial region of the cell is indirectly controlled by the SIN (Clifford et al. 2008; Hachet and Simanis 2008; Roberts-Galbraith et al. 2010). Interphase Cdc15 is phosphorylated at multiple sites that induces a closed conformation of the protein and inhibits its assembly at the division site. Activation of the Cdc14 phosphatase Clp1 by the SIN effector kinase Sid2 allows association of Clp1 with Mid1 and dephosphorylation of Cdc15. This induces an open conformation and oligomerization of Cdc15 that activates its scaffold function. Second, the SIN directly activates the formin Cdc12 through Sid-2-dependent phosphorylation of a novel Cdc12 domain that controls F-actin bundling and therefore a central function of the formin during CAR maturation (Bohnert et al. 2013). Importantly, this novel Cdc12 function should not be confused with the central function of formins in F-actin nucleation, which is controlled through dimerization of the FH2 domains (Xu et al. 2004). Although is it clear that the SIN is also important during septum constriction, the mechanism that triggers initiation of CAR constriction and the specific functions of the SIN during constriction are yet unknown (Johnson et al. 2012).

The molecular composition of the budding yeast CAR is very similar to that of fission yeast although the CAR components accumulate over longer time periods (Luo et al. 2004; Shannon and Li 2000; Wloka and Bi 2012; Balasubramanian et al. 2004; Bi et al. 1998; Lippincott and Li

1998). One important difference between the two yeasts is that the CAR assembles at the bud neck only after the septin collar has formed in response to the Bud3p-Bud4p-Axl2p landmark described earlier (Gladfelter et al. 2001; McMurray and Thorner 2009). As discussed before, the future septation site in the filament-forming Saccharomycotina species A. gossypii and C. albicans may be marked at the hyphal tip as response of the reduced growth rate triggered by subapical septum formation. This apical landmark consists of Ashbya gossypii Bud3 or the C. albicans Bud4 homolog Int1 and various septins in both fungi (Wendland 2003; DeMay et al. 2009; Gale et al. 2001). This allows recruitment of proteins required for CAR assembly, such as the F-BAR protein Hof1 (homolog of S. pombe Cdc15), type II myosin, and the IQGAP protein Cyk1 to form cortical filaments or "bars" within 5-10 µm of the hyphal tip, which are subsequently transformed into a subapical cortical ring as tip growth proceeds (DeMay et al. 2009; Helfer and Gladfelter 2006; Kaufmann and Philippsen 2009).

B. CAR Assembly in the Pezizomycotina

The CAR is also a key constituent of the cytokinetic machinery required for septum formation in the Pezizomycotina fungi (Seiler and Justa-Schuch 2010; Berepiki et al. 2011). The dynamics of the actin cytoskeleton during septum formation has recently been addressed using Lifeact (a marker for labeling f-actin in living cells; Riedl et al. 2008) in N. crassa (Delgado-Alvarez et al. 2010, 2014; Berepiki et al. 2010). A prominent tangle of actin filaments, the septal actomyosin tangle (SAT), occurs 3-4 min prior to the formin BNI-1 and the anillin BUD-4 at sites of future septum formation. Thus, forminand anillin-dependent f-actin nucleation and organization seems to be of minor importance for SAT formation, while the appearance of BUD-4 and BNI-1 coincides with maturation of the CAR from the SAT (Fig. 4b). Another striking observation is that the SAT may primarily be generated by transferring existing filaments from established subapical septa to

the future site of septation. It is currently unclear if this transfer is based on treadmilling of filaments or on myosin-dependent transport of f-actin.

Moreover, a cortical double ring of patches consisting of components of the Arp2/3 complex, fimbrin and coronin, appear after the coalescence of Lifeact-GFP-labeled cables into a sharp ring, a few seconds before the membrane contraction begins and disappear after CAR contraction has terminated (Delgado-Alvarez et al. 2010, 2014; Echauri-Espinosa et al. 2012; Upadhyay and Shaw 2008). These patches are likely part of the endocytosis machinery that may contribute to membrane remodeling and recycling of supernumerary cell wall enzymes.

Several models are currently discussed that describe the transition from cortical Mid1-containing nodes into the mature CAR in fission yeast (Bathe and Chang 2010; Pollard and Wu 2010; Laporte et al. 2011), a process that seems to correspond to the SAT-CAR transition described for N. crassa. These models are non-exclusive and primarily differ in the number and distribution of f-actin nucleating formin assemblies and how the de novo generated filaments coalesce into a stable ring. A recent study also reported that pre-existing f-actin filaments can be recruited in a myosin-dependent manner to cortical actin nodes (Huang et al. 2012). This is consistent with the results obtained in N. crassa and analogous findings in animal cells (Chen et al. 2008b; Zhou and Wang 2008), supporting the hypothesis that de novo formin-dependent f-actin assembly at the division site and transport of pre-assembled filaments can contribute to CAR assembly in all eukaryotes. However, the relative contribution of the two actin populations may vary in the different systems.

C. Crosstalk Between the SIN and the MOR Pathways for CAR Regulation

Another fundamental mechanism by which the fission yeast SIN promotes CAR maturation is the inhibition of a competing polarity pathway called the **MORphogenesis network**, which is required for actin organization at cell ends during polarized growth (Gupta and McCollum 2011; Ray et al. 2010). The MOR (called RAM in budding yeast) represents a second Dbf2related kinase network with an organization similar to that of the SIN (Nelson et al. 2003; Kanai et al. 2005; Das et al. 2009). To promote tip growth, actin is confined to the cell ends where it is required for cell wall deposition. As cells enter mitosis, actin relocates to site of cell division to form the CAR. Since, both processes involve restructuring of the actin cytoskeleton, coordination is presumably important to keep competing actin polarity programs from interfering with each other. Thus, mutual antagonistic function of the SIN and MORphogenesis network is required to coordinate cell growth and division. Inhibition of the MOR is achieved by the SIN effector Sid2, which phosphorylates the MOR kinase Nak1 and the Nak1-associated protein Sog2 in order to block interaction of Nak1-Sog2 with the scaffold protein Mor2 (Gupta et al. 2013). Moreover, the upstream SIN components Cdc7 und Sid1 control and enhance MOR activity in the subsequent interphase after cell division by an unknown mechanism (Kanai et al. 2005).

Tip growth and septum formation occurs simultaneously in filamentous fungi, which requires differential regulation between both NDR kinase pathways (Fig. 4). The localization of N. crassa SIN components at the time of SAT to CAR transition suggests the involvement of the SIN in the maturation of a functional CAR (Heilig et al. 2014). A key function of the MOR network in molds seems to inhibit septation initiation (Maerz and Seiler 2010). N. crassa MOR mutants produce hyperseptated hyphae, while hyperactivation of the MOR resulted in a reduced septation index (Yarden et al. 1992; Ziv et al. 2009; Seiler and Plamann 2003; Seiler et al. 2006; Maerz et al. 2009). Because the N. crassa MOR components do not associate with SPBs (Maerz et al. 2012; Dettmann et al. 2012; Heilig et al. 2014), inhibition of septation initiation by the MOR likely occurs in the cytosol. A second, presumably late function of the MOR during septation might be indicated by the recruitment of all MOR components to the forming septum after initiation of CAR constricting has started (i.e., 2-3 min later than cortex recruitment of the SIN kinase DBF-2; Heilig et al. 2014, Maerz et al. 2012). Such a late function of the MOR is also supported by the analysis of conditional mutants in the MOR effector kinase COT-1, which produce thickened septa and altered septum when grown at restrictive conditions

(Gorovits et al. 2000). These data suggest multiple functions of the MOR in regulating septation initiation and biogenesis of the septum wall in molds.

In line with the opposite functions of the SIN and the MOR during septation, multilevel cross talk between both networks has recently been determined in N. crassa (Heilig et al. 2014). The SIN kinase MST-1 regulates the MOR and the SIN both in an enzymedependent and -independent manner. MST-1 phosphorylates and activates both the MOR and SIN effector kinases, COT-1 and DBF-2, respectively, by hydrophobic motif phosphorylation. In addition, heterodimerization of the two germinal center kinase MST-1 and the MOR kinase POD-6 inactivates both kinases. An analogous mutually inhibitory interaction occurs between the two NDR kinases DBF-2 and COT-1, which can also form heterodimers. A putative mechanism for kinase inactivation is based on the observation that NDR kinase heterodimerization requires the same protein regions that are required for interaction with their activating MOB protein subunits. Moreover, the kinase-kinase and kinase-MOB interactions were found to be mutually exclusive, and kinase heterodimerization therefore resulted in the displacement of the regulatory subunit and consequently kinase inactivation (Heilig and Seiler; unpublished data).

V. Cell Wall Biogenesis and Cell Division

A. Cell Wall Biogenesis

CAR constriction is coupled with membrane invagination and secretion of membranebound cell wall biosynthetic enzymes that build the extracellular septum. Simultaneously, endocytic recycling of supernumerous components (enzymes, membrane, etc.) accompanies septum development. The major enzymes involved in cell wall formation are **chitin and glucan synthases** (Lesage and Bussey 2006; Free 2013). **Chitin** (linear chains of β -1,4-linked *N*acetylglucosamine molecules) is synthesized by a multifamily group of enzymes that can be grouped into seven classes of chitin synthases (ChS; Riquelme and Bartnicki-García 2008). Most *Pezizomycotina* fungi have single genes for each of the seven reported classes of ChS, while yeasts have a more restricted set of ChS genes. Class II ChS functions as the major enzyme for synthesizing the primary septum in budding yeast (Chs2p; Schmidt et al. 2002) and in C. albicans (Chs1; Munro et al. 2001; Walker et al. 2013), while the other ChS in the Saccharomycotina are involved in the biosynthesis of the general cell wall and in repair functions (Lesage and Bussey 2006). Although the three-layered septum structure is also described for fission yeast, its primary septum is mainly composed of β -1,3-glucan (Humbel et al. 2001; Sugawara et al. 2003). The secondary septum in both yeast models and in C. albicans is built by several layers of β -1,3-glucans and mannoproteins (Lesage and Bussey 2006; Humbel et al. 2001; Sugawara et al. 2003).

Despite considerable effort in the cell wall analysis in the *Pezizomycotina* fungi (Free 2013; Latge and Beauvais 2014), the composition and biosynthesis of their septal walls is still poorly understood. Chitin has been shown to be the major component of the N. crassa septum (Hunsley and Gooday 1974). The specific localization of CHS-2 (class II) at the constricting rim of the developing septum (in addition to its localization at the tip growth) in N. crassa is consistent with a general function of class II ChS in primary septum formation (Fajardo-Somera et al. 2015). The remaining six N. crassa ChS localize along the entire septal plate, suggesting a function of these enzymes in remodeling the primary septum and/or synthesizing additional layers that form the secondary septum (Fajardo-Somera et al. 2015).

Regulation of primary septum formation is best understood in budding yeast. The MEN promotes cytokinesis by influencing multiple pathways involved in CAR constriction and septum formation. For instance, the MEN is involved in targeting the chitin synthase **Chs2p** to the bud neck (Meitinger et al. 2010) and also directly regulates the late cytokinetic components Hof1p and Inn1p, two PCH proteins which are homologs of the *S. pombe* Cdc15 (Sanchez-Diaz et al. 2008; Nishihama et al. 2009; Meitinger et al. 2010, 2011). Chs2p is held in an inactive state in the endoplasmatic reticulum by phosphorylation through Cdc28p/CDK1 that blocks its interaction with the COPII component Sec24p and sorting into COPII vesicles (Chuang and Schekman 1996; Zhang et al. 2006; Meitinger et al. 2010; Teh et al. 2009; Jakobsen et al. 2013), while MEN-controlled dephosphorylation by Cdc14p allows Chs2p to enter the secretory pathway (Chin et al. 2012). Subsequent inactivation of Chs2p is achieved through phosphorylation by the MEN effector kinase Dbf2p (Oh et al. 2012).

The second major component of the fungal cell wall is β -1,3-glucan. Its synthesis is catalyzed by membrane-bound β-1,3-glucan synthase complexes, which consist of the catalytic FKS and regulatory Rho1 GTPase subunit (Mazur and Baginsky 1996; Beauvais et al. 2001). Both yeasts have multiple, partially redundant FKS genes, and glucan synthesis is essential for viability. This is also the case for the dimorphic Saccharomycotina species C. albicans (Munro 2013). Most Pezizomycotina fungi have only a single FKS gene. Although all components of the β -1,3-glucan synthase complex as well as putative regulators localize to sites of polar growth at hyphal tips, emerging branches and along septa in N. crassa and other molds (Vogt and Seiler 2008; Verdin et al. 2009; Richthammer et al. 2012; Sanchez-Leon and Riquelme 2015), β -1,3-glucan synthesis is not essential in A. fumigatus (Dichtl et al. 2015), suggesting compensatory functions by other cell wall components in the Pezizomycotina fungi.

B. Septum Formation and Cell Division During Fungal Development

Premature activation of the fission yeast MOR (e.g., by misregulation of the SIN) results in inappropriate septum degradation and consequently cell lysis (Gupta et al. 2014). Degradation of the primary septum to trigger cell separation is initiated by RAM-dependent activation of the **transcription factor Ace2p** that controls the expression of Cts1p and Eng1p, the major cell wall-degrading chitinase and glucanase, respectively (Dohrmann et al. 1992; Colman-Lerner et al. 2001; Weiss et al. 2002). C. albicans Ace2 mutants also display cell separation defects (Kelly et al. 2004), and, consequently, transcription factor function is inhibited by the filament-inducing transcription factor Efg1 in order to inhibit cell separation after septum formation in hyphae (Wang et al. 2009; Saputo et al. 2014). Budding yeast Ace2p has a paralog, Swi5p, a transcription factor that is primarily involved in cell cycle regulation. Therefore it is currently unclear, if the Pezizomycotina fungi have a functional homolog of budding yeast Ace2p. In addition, we have no data that indicate transcriptional regulation by the MOR during tip growth in these fungi, and thus it remains open, if transcriptional regulation impacts vegetative septum formation in the *Pezizomycotina* clade.

Asexual sporulation (conidium) in the Pezizomycotina fungi involves the formation of conidia, formed on specialized structures called conidiophores. This is, in principle, achieved by two distinct sporulation patterns exemplified by A. nidulans and N. crassa, respectively (Park and Yu 2012). During basipetal sporulation the spore forms at the base of a chain and pushes the older cells of the conidial chain away from the spore-forming region, while the acropetal sporulation pattern refers to the fact that the most recently formed spore is at the tip of a chain of spores. Thus, the machinery required for septum formation and cell division must be targeted accordingly. Conidiation in molds is analogous to cell separation in the unicellular yeasts and requires full cell separation through a multilayered cell wall, which is followed by the digestion of the primary cell wall material between two completely formed secondary septum to release mature spores (Springer and Yanofsky 1989; Adams et al. 1998). Consequently, all A. nidulans and N. crassa mutants of currently characterized proteins required for septum formation in vegetative hyphae are also aconidiate (Rasmussen and Glass 2005; Maerz et al. 2009; Justa-Schuch et al. 2010; Dvash et al. 2010; Heilig et al. 2013; Bruno et al. 2001; Kim et al. 2006, 2009; Si et al. 2010). We have very limited mechanistic insights how the cell division machinery is reprogrammed

during the two basic developmental cell division patterns observed in molds. It has recently been shown that the A. nidulans homolog of the budding yeast axial bud-site landmark component Axl2p has no obvious role during vegetative growth (Si et al. 2012). Axl2 is specifically required for the regulation of phialide morphogenesis during conidium, where it appears to promote the recruitment of septins, and Axl2 mutants fail to produce the long chains of conidium. Consistently, Axl2 specifically localized to the phialide-spore junction, implying Axl2 as landmark for reorientation of the division pattern from acropetal growth during phialide formation to basipetal growth during sporulation (Si et al. 2012).

All fungal and animal anillin (with the exception of the *S. pombe* landmark Mid1) interact with the septin scaffold. However, the timing of this interaction and its importance for cell division varies between the different fungal groups (Fig. 5). In vegetative *A. nidulans, A. fumigatus,* and *N. crassa* hyphae, the septin play only a minor role during septum formation, and the three fungi form proper septa when any of the five septin genes is deleted (Lindsey et al. 2010; Hernandez-Rodriguez et al. 2012; Berepiki and Read 2013; Vargas-Muniz et al. 2015). In contrast, septin deletion strains of both *Aspergilli* result in major defects in conidiophore development. Similarly, *N.*

crassa core septin deletion mutants produce chains of unseparated conidium (Berepiki and Read 2013). In summary, these data are consistent with a late-acting function of the septins during cell separation, which—in molds—is suppressed during vegetative growth.

Intriguingly, splice variants of C. albicans transcription factor have recently been associated with RAM/MOR-dependent coordination of septin dynamics and regulation of the incorporation of the Sep7 septin into hyphal septal rings in order to avoid cell separation (Calderon-Norena et al. 2015). Thus, septin dynamics during conidial development in molds may also be regulated through NDR kinase signals. Mutants, in which the activity of the MOR effector kinase COT-1 is reduced, result in conidial separation defect (Ziv et al. 2009), indicating that the MOR functions during developmental cell separation in molds as described for vegetative cell separation in the two yeasts. Interestingly, an A. fumigatus Ace2 mutant displayed pleiotropic defects that were primarily associated with conidium morphogenesis and resulted in reduced amounts of generated conidial with highly thickened conidial walls (Ejzykowicz et al. 2009). Thus, MORdependent transcriptional regulation might be inhibited during vegetative growth to inhibit cell separation but is induced during the developmental program.



Fig. 5 Putative relationships between anillin-Rho GTPase complexes and the septins. (a) The interplay between the septins and the Bud3/4p-Cdc42p complex regulates budsite selection in budding yeast. (b) A similar Mid2-Rho3/4 complex functions at a late stage of cell division to trigger cell separation in fission yeast. In addition, Mid1 has a

unique function during septum placement in *S. pombe*. (c) The Bud3/4-Rho4 complex is important for CAR formation during vegetative growth of *A. nidulans* and *N. crassa* hyphae. The septins play only a minor role at this stage of the life cycle yet become critical for cell separation during asexual development

Sexual development is also affected in septum mutants. For example, N. crassa mutants are female sterile and do not form protoperithecia (Rasmussen and Glass 2005; Maerz et al. 2009; Justa-Schuch et al. 2010; Heilig et al. 2013). Moreover, homozygous crosses of septum strains, in which the female partner has been sheltered by a helper strain, are barren and produce very few ascospores. Interestingly, no septa are formed in ascogenous hyphae in these mutants, indicating multiple developmental defects of theses strains (Rasmussen and Glass 2005; Maerz et al. 2009). In budding yeast and fission yeast, the SIN has recently been shown to be dispensable for progression through meiosis but required for subsequent spore wall formation and ascospore morphology (Krapp et al. 2006; Attner and Amon 2012). Similarly, N. crassa SIN mutants produce few but giant ascospores containing all eight nuclei derived from the two meiotic and one mitotic divisions (Raju and Newmeyer 1977; Freitag et al. 2004; Maerz et al. 2009; Heilig et al. 2013). However, these nuclei are then enclosed in a single giant ascospore, supporting an essential function of the SIN during cross wall formation in vegetative cells and during the formation of asco- as well as conidiospores in unicellular and filamentous ascomycetes.

C. Septal Pore-Associated Functions in Filamentous Ascomycete Fungi

The septa of most *Pezizomycotina* species are perforated by simple pores of 350-500 nm in diameter, which allow nuclei, organelles, and cytoplasm to move between compartments (Hunsley and Gooday 1974; Mourino-Perez and Riquelme 2013). However, the mechanisms that terminate CAR constriction and incomplete cell separation are virtually unexplored. The development of certain animal tissues also requires incomplete cytokinesis and the formation of syncytia—a process that is very poorly understood. For instance, in many species, including humans, germ cells remain connected by intercellular bridges, which are required for germ cell development, and their absence results in infertility (Haglund et al. 2011). The robust genetic and cell biological tractability of filamentous fungi thus provides an unparalleled opportunity to determine mechanisms that control complete versus incomplete cytokinesis and the regulated gating of intercellular bridges/septum pores.

The presence of septa is essential for maintaining colony integrity after hyphal injury by rapid plugging of septal pores through peroxisome-derived Woronin bodies (Jedd and Chua 2000; Pieuchot and Jedd 2012). Moreover, the structure and composition of the septum and the connectivity status of septum in filamentous ascomycotina fungi varies within the developing mycelium. This allows age-dependent plugging of interior regions of the colony (e.g., in N. crassa: Trinci and Collinge 1973; Hunsley and Gooday 1974) and can establish cellular heterogeneity (e.g., in A. niger: de Bekker et al. 2011; Vinck et al. 2011; Wosten et al. 2013). Moreover, dynamic pore closure can be important to separate mitotically active versus inactive compartments (e.g., in A. nidulans: Shen et al. 2014) or to compartmentalize communicating regions within the colony (e.g., in N. crassa: Dettmann et al. 2014; Jonkers et al. 2014). How pore closure is regulated and which components are involved is poorly understood. Key candidate proteins that are likely involved in this process in varying composition are HEX-1-derived Woronin bodies (Beck et al. 2013), the SOFT protein, which is also involved in cell-cell communication and has recently been identified as scaffold of the cell wall integrity MAP kinase pathway (Fleissner and Glass 2007; Teichert et al. 2014) and a set of septum-associated intrinsically disordered proteins (Lai et al. 2012; Shen et al. 2014). How trafficking of growth-associated factors such as small secretory vesicles toward the tip growth is affected by pore closure is unknown. It also remains possible that more selective transport is still allowed although the pore is closed for bulk transport. In this context, it is also worth noting that a microtubule-organizing center associates with the septum pore in A. nidulans (Veith et al. 2005; Zekert et al. 2010; Takeshita and Fischer 2011), which may promote such intercompartmental transport in addition to its implication as component of a speculative cell size-sensing mechanism discussed in Sect. II-B.

VI. Conclusions and Perspectives

Although septum formation is essential for cell proliferation and fungal development, many important questions remain to be addressed. Of particular importance is the identification of signals that determine septum placement in a syncytial compartment. Do specific landmark proteins exist? Are nuclear and cell end-dependent signals involved? What is the function of sMTOCs in this context, and do MTs have any role in sensing of the apical cell size and site selection for septum placement? A second battery of questions involve the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton: how is SAT formation regulated, and what is the relative importance of de novo f-actin nucleation versus assembly of preformed filaments originating from previously formed septum? What is the trigger for CAR constriction and how is CAR constriction terminated? Third, how is polar tip growth and subapical septum formation regulated, if both processes coexist in the filament but depend on the same growth machinery? Forth, why do so many (unrelated) signaling modules associate with the mature septal pore, and how is cell-cell connectivity regulated? Finally, we need to understand how these basic processes are remodeled during fungal development and multicellular differentiation. The answers to these questions will require comparative approaches, and the acknowledgement that yeast and filamentous lifestyles have reused conserved molecular modules in different contexts. In the long term, this will not only improve our understanding of septum formation in vegetative hyphae but also of cell differentiation during ascomycete development and will shed light on the evolutionary consequences of cell compartmentalization when compared to other fungal phyla such as the aseptate zygomycetes or the basidiomycetes that generate highly complex septa.

Acknowledgment Research of the Seiler laboratory is supported through the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft DFG (grants SE1054/4-2, SE1054/6-2, SE1054/7-2, SE1054/9-1).

References

- Adams TH, Wieser JK, Yu JH (1998) Asexual sporulation in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 62:35–54
- Alberti-Segui C, Dietrich F, Altmann-Johl R, Hoepfner D, Philippsen P (2001) Cytoplasmic dynein is required to oppose the force that moves nuclei towards the hyphal tip in the filamentous ascomycete Ashbya gossypii. J Cell Sci 114:975–986
- Almonacid M, Moseley JB, Janvore J, Mayeux A, Fraisier V, Nurse P, Paoletti A (2009) Spatial control of cytokinesis by Cdr2 kinase and Mid1/anillin nuclear export. Curr Biol 19:961–966
- Attner MA, Amon A (2012) Control of the mitotic exit network during meiosis. Mol Biol Cell 23:3122– 3132
- Bachewich C, Masker K, Osmani S (2005) The polo-like kinase PLKA is required for initiation and progression through mitosis in the filamentous fungus Aspergillus nidulans. Mol Microbiol 55:572– 587
- Bähler J, Steever AB, Wheatley S, Wang Y, Pringle JR, Gould KL, McCollum D (1998) Role of polo kinase and Mid1p in determining the site of cell division in fission yeast. J Cell Biol 143:1603–1616
- Balasubramanian MK, Bi E, Glotzer M (2004) Comparative analysis of cytokinesis in budding yeast, fission yeast and animal cells. Curr Biol 14:R806– R818
- Barr FA, Gruneberg U (2007) Cytokinesis: placing and making the final cut. Cell 131:847–860
- Bathe M, Chang F (2010) Cytokinesis and the contractile ring in fission yeast: towards a systems-level understanding. Trends Microbiol 18:38–45
- Beauvais A, Bruneau JM, Mol PC, Buitrago MJ, Legrand R, Latge JP (2001) Glucan synthase complex of Aspergillus fumigatus. J Bacteriol 183:2273–2279
- Beck J, Echtenacher B, Ebel F (2013) Woronin bodies, their impact on stress resistance and virulence of the pathogenic mould *Aspergillus fumigatus* and their anchoring at the septal pore of filamentous Ascomycota. Mol Microbiol 89:857–871
- Berepiki A, Read ND (2013) Septins are important for cell polarity, septation and asexual spore formation in *Neurospora crassa* and show different patterns of localisation at germ tube tips. PLoS One 8: e63843
- Berepiki A, Lichius A, Shoji JY, Tilsner J, Read ND (2010) F-actin dynamics in *Neurospora crassa*. Eukaryot Cell 9:547–557
- Berepiki A, Lichius A, Read ND (2011) Actin organization and dynamics in filamentous fungi. Nat Rev Microbiol 9:876–887
- Berlin A, Paoletti A, Chang F (2003) Mid2p stabilizes septin rings during cytokinesis in fission yeast. J Cell Biol 160:1083–1092

- Bi E, Park HO (2012) Cell polarization and cytokinesis in budding yeast. Genetics 191:347-387
- Bi E, Maddox P, Lew DJ, Salmon ED, McMillan JN, Yeh E, Pringle JR (1998) Involvement of an actomyosin contractile ring in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 142:1301–1312
- Blackwell M (2011) The fungi: 1, 2, 3 ... 5.1 million species? Am J Bot 98:426–438
- Bloemendal S, Lord KM, Rech C, Hoff B, Engh I, Read ND, Kuck U (2010) A mutant defective in sexual development produces aseptate ascogonia. Eukaryot Cell 9:1856–1866
- Bloemendal S, Bernhards Y, Bartho K, Dettmann A, Voigt O, Teichert I, Seiler S, Wolters DA, Poggeler S, Kuck U (2012) A homologue of the human STRIPAK complex controls sexual development in fungi. Mol Microbiol 84:310–323
- Bohnert KÅ, Willet AH, Kovar DR, Gould KL (2013) Formin-based control of the actin cytoskeleton during cytokinesis. Biochem Soc Trans 41:1750– 1754
- Bruno KS, Morrell JL, Hamer JE, Staiger CJ (2001) SEPH, a Cdc7p orthologue from Aspergillus nidulans, functions upstream of actin ring formation during cytokinesis. Mol Microbiol 42:3–12
- Cabernard C, Prehoda KE, Doe CQ (2010) A spindleindependent cleavage furrow positioning pathway. Nature 467:91–94
- Calderon-Norena DM, Gonzalez-Novo A, Orellana-Munoz S, Gutierrez-Escribano P, Arnaiz-Pita Y, Duenas-Santero E, Suarez MB, Bougnoux ME, Del Rey F, Sherlock G, d'Enfert C, Correa-Bordes J, de Aldana CR (2015) A single nucleotide polymorphism uncovers a novel function for the transcription factor Ace2 during *Candida albicans* hyphal development. PLoS Genet 11:e1005152
- Celton-Morizur S, Racine V, Sibarita JB, Paoletti A (2006) Pom1 kinase links division plane position to cell polarity by regulating Mid1p cortical distribution. J Cell Sci 119:4710–4718
- Chang F, Peter M (2003) Yeasts make their mark. Nat Cell Biol 5:294–299
- Chant J, Herskowitz I (1991) Genetic control of bud site selection in yeast by a set of gene products that constitute a morphogenetic pathway. Cell 65:1203– 1212
- Chen CT, Feoktistova A, Chen JS, Shim YS, Clifford DM, Gould KL, McCollum D (2008a) The SIN kinase Sid2 regulates cytoplasmic retention of the S. pombe Cdc14-like phosphatase Clp1. Curr Biol 18:1594–1599
- Chen W, Foss M, Tseng KF, Zhang D (2008b) Redundant mechanisms recruit actin into the contractile ring in silkworm spermatocytes. *PLoS Biol* 6:e209
- Chin CF, Bennett AM, Ma WK, Hall MC, Yeong FM (2012) Dependence of Chs2 ER export on dephosphorylation by cytoplasmic Cdc14 ensures that septum formation follows mitosis. Mol Biol Cell 23:45–58

- Chuang JS, Schekman RW (1996) Differential trafficking and timed localization of two chitin synthase proteins, Chs2p and Chs3p. J Cell Biol 135:597–610
- Clifford DM, Chen CT, Roberts RH, Feoktistova A, Wolfe BA, Chen JS, McCollum D, Gould KL (2008) The role of Cdc14 phosphatases in the control of cell division. Biochem Soc Trans 36:436–438
- Colman-Lerner A, Chin TE, Brent R (2001) Yeast Cbk1 and Mob2 activate daughter-specific genetic programs to induce asymmetric cell fates. Cell 107:739–750
- Daga RR, Chang F (2005) Dynamic positioning of the fission yeast cell division plane. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8228–8232
- Das M, Wiley DJ, Chen X, Shah K, Verde F (2009) The conserved NDR kinase Orb6 controls polarized cell growth by spatial regulation of the small GTPase Cdc42. Curr Biol 19:1314–1319
- D'Avino PP (2009) How to scaffold the contractile ring for a safe cytokinesis – lessons from anillin-related proteins. J Cell Sci 122:1071–1079
- D'Avino PP, Takeda T, Capalbo L, Zhang W, Lilley KS, Laue ED, Glover DM (2008) Interaction between anillin and RacGAP50C connects the actomyosin contractile ring with spindle microtubules at the cell division site. J Cell Sci 121:1151–1158
- de Bekker C, Bruning O, Jonker MJ, Breit TM, Wosten HA (2011) Single cell transcriptomics of neighboring hyphae of *Aspergillus niger*. Genome Biol 12:R71
- De Souza CP, Osmani AH, Wu LP, Spotts JL, Osmani SA (2000) Mitotic histone H3 phosphorylation by the NIMA kinase in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Cell 102:293-302
- De Souza CP, Osmani AH, Hashmi SB, Osmani SA (2004) Partial nuclear pore complex disassembly during closed mitosis in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Curr Biol 14:1973–1984
- De Souza CP, Hashmi SB, Osmani AH, Osmani SA (2014) Application of a new dual localizationaffinity purification tag reveals novel aspects of protein kinase biology in *Aspergillus nidulans*. PLoS One 9:e90911
- Delgado-Alvarez DL, Callejas-Negrete OA, Gomez N, Freitag M, Roberson RW, Smith LG, Mourino-Perez RR (2010) Visualization of F-actin localization and dynamics with live cell markers in *Neurospora crassa*. Fungal Genet Biol 47:573–586
- Delgado-Alvarez DL, Bartnicki-Garcia S, Seiler S, Mourino-Perez RR (2014) Septum development in *Neurospora crassa*: the septal actomyosin tangle. PLoS One 9:e96744
- DeMay BS, Meseroll RA, Occhipinti P, Gladfelter AS (2009) Regulation of distinct septin rings in a single cell by Elm1p and Gin4p kinases. Mol Biol Cell 20:2311–2326
- Dettmann A, Illgen J, Marz S, Schurg T, Fleissner A, Seiler S (2012) The NDR kinase scaffold HYM1/ MO25 is essential for MAK2 map kinase signaling in *Neurospora crassa*. PLoS Genet 8:e1002950

- Dettmann A, Heilig Y, Ludwig S, Schmitt K, Illgen J, Fleissner A, Valerius O, Seiler S (2013) HAM-2 and HAM-3 are central for the assembly of the Neurospora STRIPAK complex at the nuclear envelope and regulate nuclear accumulation of the MAP kinase MAK-1 in a MAK-2-dependent manner. Mol Microbiol 90:796–812
- Dettmann A, Heilig Y, Valerius O, Ludwig S, Seiler S (2014) Fungal communication requires the MAK-2 pathway elements STE-20 and RAS-2, the NRC-1 adapter STE-50 and the MAP kinase scaffold HAM-5. PLoS Genet 10:e1004762
- Dichtl K, Samantaray S, Aimanianda V, Zhu Z, Prevost MC, Latge JP, Ebel F, Wagener J (2015) *Aspergillus fumigatus* devoid of cell wall beta-1,3-glucan is viable, massively sheds galactomannan and is killed by septum formation inhibitors. Mol Microbiol 95:458–471
- Dietrich FS, Voegeli S, Brachat S, Lerch A, Gates K, Steiner S, Mohr C, Pohlmann R, Luedi P, Choi S, Wing RA, Flavier A, Gaffney TD, Philippsen P (2004) The Ashbya gossypii genome as a tool for mapping the ancient Saccharomyces cerevisiae genome. Science 304:304–307
- Dohrmann PR, Butler G, Tamai K, Dorland S, Greene JR, Thiele DJ, Stillman DJ (1992) Parallel pathways of gene regulation: homologous regulators SW15 and ACE2 differentially control transcription of HO and chitinase. Genes Dev 6:93–104
- Dvash E, Kra-Oz G, Ziv C, Carmeli S, Yarden O (2010) The NDR kinase DBF-2 is involved in regulation of mitosis, conidial development, and glycogen metabolism in *Neurospora crassa*. Eukaryot Cell 9:502-513
- Echauri-Espinosa RO, Callejas-Negrete OA, Roberson RW, Bartnicki-Garcia S, Mourino-Perez RR (2012) Coronin is a component of the endocytic collar of hyphae of *Neurospora crassa* and is necessary for normal growth and morphogenesis. PLoS One 7: e38237
- Eggert US, Mitchison TJ, Field CM (2006) Animal cytokinesis: from parts list to mechanisms. Annu Rev Biochem 75:543–566
- Ejzykowicz DE, Cunha MM, Rozental S, Solis NV, Gravelat FN, Sheppard DC, Filler SG (2009) The Aspergillus fumigatus transcription factor Ace2 governs pigment production, conidiation and virulence. Mol Microbiol 72:155–169
- El Amine N, Kechad A, Jananji S, Hickson GR (2013) Opposing actions of septins and Sticky on anillin promote the transition from contractile to midbody ring. J Cell Biol 203:487–504
- Eluere R, Varlet I, Bernadac A, Simon MN (2012) Cdk and the anillin homolog Bud4 define a new pathway regulating septin organization in yeast. Cell Cycle 11:151–158
- Fajardo-Somera RA, Johnk B, Bayram O, Valerius O, Braus GH, Riquelme M (2015) Dissecting the function of the different chitin synthases in vegetative

growth and sexual development in Neurospora crassa. Fungal Genet Biol 75:30-45

- Fankhauser C, Simanis V (1994) The cdc7 protein kinase is a dosage dependent regulator of septum formation in fission yeast. EMBO J 13:3011–3019
- Feoktistova A, Morrell-Falvey J, Chen JS, Singh NS, Balasubramanian MK, Gould KL (2012) The fission yeast septation initiation network (SIN) kinase, Sid2, is required for SIN asymmetry and regulates the SIN scaffold, Cdc11. Mol Biol Cell 23:1636–1645
- Field CM, Alberts BM (1995) Anillin, a contractile ring protein that cycles from the nucleus to the cell cortex. J Cell Biol 131:165–178
- Finlayson MR, Helfer-Hungerbuhler AK, Philippsen P (2011) Regulation of exit from mitosis in multinucleate *Ashbya gossypii* cells relies on a minimal network of genes. Mol Biol Cell 22:3081–3093
- Finley KR, Berman J (2005) Microtubules in *Candida albicans* hyphae drive nuclear dynamics and connect cell cycle progression to morphogenesis. Eukaryot Cell 4:1697–1711
- Finley KR, Bouchonville KJ, Quick A, Berman J (2008) Dynein-dependent nuclear dynamics affect morphogenesis in *Candida albicans* by means of the Bub2p spindle checkpoint. J Cell Sci 121:466–476
- Fischer R, Zekert N, Takeshita N (2008) Polarized growth in fungi-interplay between the cytoskeleton, positional markers and membrane domains. Mol Microbiol 68:813–826
- Fleissner A, Glass NL (2007) SO, a protein involved in hyphal fusion in *Neurospora crassa*, localizes to septal plugs. Eukaryot Cell 6:84–94
- Free SJ (2013) Fungal cell wall organization and biosynthesis. Adv Genet 81:33–82
- Freitag M, Hickey PC, Raju NB, Selker EU, Read ND (2004) GFP as a tool to analyze the organization, dynamics and function of nuclei and microtubules in *Neurospora crassa*. Fungal Genet Biol 41:897–910
- Frey S, Reschka EJ, Poggeler S (2015) Germinal center kinases SmKIN3 and SmKIN24 are associated with the Sordaria macrospora striatin-interacting phosphatase and kinase (STRIPAK) complex. PLoS One 10:e0139163
- Gale C, Gerami-Nejad M, McClellan M, Vandoninck S, Longtine MS, Berman J (2001) *Candida albicans* Int1p interacts with the septin ring in yeast and hyphal cells. Mol Biol Cell 12:3538–3549
- Gao XD, Sperber LM, Kane SA, Tong Z, Tong AH, Boone C, Bi E (2007) Sequential and distinct roles of the cadherin domain-containing protein Axl2p in cell polarization in yeast cell cycle. Mol Biol Cell 18:2542–2560
- Gladfelter AS, Pringle JR, Lew DJ (2001) The septin cortex at the yeast mother-bud neck. Curr Opin Microbiol 4:681–689
- Gonzalez-Novo A, Correa-Bordes J, Labrador L, Sanchez M, Vazquez de Aldana CR, Jimenez J (2008) Sep7 is essential to modify septin ring dynamics

and inhibit cell separation during *Candida albicans* hyphal growth. Mol Biol Cell 19:1509–1518

- Gonzalez-Novo A, Labrador L, Pablo-Hernando ME, Correa-Bordes J, Sanchez M, Jimenez J, Vazquez de Aldana CR (2009) Dbf2 is essential for cytokinesis and correct mitotic spindle formation in *Candida albicans*. Mol Microbiol 72:1364–1378
- Gorovits R, Sjollema KA, Sietsma JH, Yarden O (2000) Cellular distribution of COT1 kinase in *Neurospora crassa*. Fungal Genet Biol 30:63–70
- Govindaraghavan M, McGuire Anglin SL, Shen KF, Shukla N, De Souza CP, Osmani SA (2014) Identification of interphase functions for the NIMA kinase involving microtubules and the ESCRT pathway. PLoS Genet 10:e1004248
- Grallert A, Connolly Y, Smith DL, Simanis V, Hagan IM (2012) The S. pombe cytokinesis NDR kinase Sid2 activates Fin1 NIMA kinase to control mitotic commitment through Pom1/Wee1. Nat Cell Biol 14:738–745
- Gregory SL, Ebrahimi S, Milverton J, Jones WM, Bejsovec A, Saint R (2008) Cell division requires a direct link between microtubule-bound RacGAP and anillin in the contractile ring. Curr Biol 18:25–29
- Gu Y, Oliferenko S (2015) Comparative biology of cell division in the fission yeast clade. Curr Opin Microbiol 28:18–25
- Gu Y, Yam C, Oliferenko S (2015) Rewiring of cellular division site selection in evolution of fission yeasts. Curr Biol 25:1187–1194
- Gull K (1978) Form and function of septa in filamentous fungi. In: Smith JE, Berry DR (eds) The filamentous fungi, Developmental mycology. Wiley, New York, pp 78–93
- Gupta S, McCollum D (2011) Crosstalk between NDR kinase pathways coordinates cell cycle dependent actin rearrangements. Cell Div 6:19
- Gupta S, Mana-Capelli S, McLean JR, Chen CT, Ray S, Gould KL, McCollum D (2013) Identification of SIN pathway targets reveals mechanisms of crosstalk between NDR kinase pathways. Curr Biol 23:333–338
- Gupta S, Govindaraghavan M, McCollum D (2014) Cross talk between NDR kinase pathways coordinates cytokinesis with cell separation in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. Eukaryot Cell 13:1104–1112
- Hachet O, Simanis V (2008) Mid1p/anillin and the septation initiation network orchestrate contractile ring assembly for cytokinesis. Genes Dev 22:3205-3216
- Haglund K, Nezis IP, Stenmark H (2011) Structure and functions of stable intercellular bridges formed by incomplete cytokinesis during development. Commun Integr Biol 4:1–9
- Harris SD (2001) Septum formation in Aspergillus nidulans. Curr Opin Microbiol 4:736-739
- Harris SD, Kraus PR (1998) Regulation of septum formation in *Aspergillus nidulans* by a DNA damage checkpoint pathway. Genetics 148:1055-1067

- Harris SD, Morrell JL, Hamer JE (1994) Identification and characterization of *Aspergillus nidulans* mutants defective in cytokinesis. Genetics 136:517–532
- Heilig Y, Schmitt K, Seiler S (2013) Phospho-regulation of the *Neurospora crassa* septation initiation network. PLoS One 8:e79464
- Heilig Y, Dettmann A, Mourino-Perez RR, Schmitt K, Valerius O, Seiler S (2014) Proper actin ring formation and septum constriction requires coordinated regulation of SIN and MOR pathways through the germinal centre kinase MST-1. PLoS Genet 10:e1004306
- Helfer H, Gladfelter AS (2006) AgSwe1p regulates mitosis in response to morphogenesis and nutrients in multinucleated *Ashbya gossypii* cells. Mol Biol Cell 17:4494–4512
- Hernandez-Rodriguez Y, Hastings S, Momany M (2012) The septin AspB in Aspergillus nidulans forms bars and filaments and plays roles in growth emergence and conidiation. Eukaryot Cell 11:311–323
- Hickson GR, O'Farrell PH (2008) Rho-dependent control of anillin behavior during cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 180:285-294
- Higashitsuji Y, Herrero S, Takeshita N, Fischer R (2009) The cell end marker protein TeaC is involved in growth directionality and septation in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Eukaryot Cell 8:957–967
- Hill TW, Jackson-Hayes L, Wang X, Hoge BL (2015) A mutation in the converter subdomain of *Aspergillus nidulans* MyoB blocks constriction of the actomyosin ring in cytokinesis. Fungal Genet Biol 75:72–83
- Hong CI, Zamborszky J, Baek M, Labiscsak L, Ju K, Lee H, Larrondo LF, Goity A, Chong HS, Belden WJ, Csikasz-Nagy A (2014) Circadian rhythms synchronize mitosis in *Neurospora crassa*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:1397–1402
- Horio T, Oakley BR (2005) The role of microtubules in rapid hyphal tip growth of *Aspergillus nidulans*. Mol Biol Cell 16:918–926
- Hou MC, Guertin DA, McCollum D (2004) Initiation of cytokinesis is controlled through multiple modes of regulation of the Sid2p-Mob1p kinase complex. Mol Cell Biol 24:3262–3276
- Huang Y, Chew TG, Ge W, Balasubramanian MK (2007) Polarity determinants Tea1p, Tea4p, and Pom1p inhibit division-septum assembly at cell ends in fission yeast. Dev Cell 12:987–996
- Huang Y, Yan H, Balasubramanian MK (2008) Assembly of normal actomyosin rings in the absence of Mid1p and cortical nodes in fission yeast. J Cell Biol 183:979–988
- Huang J, Huang Y, Yu H, Subramanian D, Padmanabhan A, Thadani R, Tao Y, Tang X, Wedlich-Soldner R, Balasubramanian MK (2012) Nonmedially assembled F-actin cables incorporate into the actomyosin ring in fission yeast. J Cell Biol 199:831-847

- Humbel BM, Konomi M, Takagi T, Kamasawa N, Ishijima SA, Osumi M (2001) In situ localization of beta-glucans in the cell wall of Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Yeast 18:433–444
- Hunsley D, Gooday GW (1974) The structure and development of septa in *Neurospora crassa*. Protoplasma 82:125–146
- Jackson SL (2001) Do hyphae pulse as they grow? New Phytol 151:556–560
- Jakobsen MK, Cheng Z, Lam SK, Roth-Johnson E, Barfield RM, Schekman R (2013) Phosphorylation of Chs2p regulates interaction with COPII. J Cell Sci 126:2151–2156
- James TY, Kauff F, Schoch CL, Matheny PB, Hofstetter V, Cox CJ, Celio G, Gueidan C, Fraker E, Miadlikowska J, Lumbsch HT, Rauhut A, Reeb V, Arnold AE, Amtoft A, Stajich JE, Hosaka K, Sung GH, Johnson D, O'Rourke B, Crockett M, Binder M, Curtis JM, Slot JC, Wang Z, Wilson AW, Schussler A, Longcore JE, O'Donnell K, Mozley-Standridge S, Porter D, Letcher PM, Powell MJ, Taylor JW, White MM, Griffith GW, Davies DR, Humber RA, Morton JB, Sugiyama J, Rossman AY, Rogers JD, Pfister DH, Hewitt D, Hansen K, Hambleton S, Shoemaker RA, Kohlmeyer J, Volkmann-Kohlmeyer B, Spotts RA, Serdani M, Crous PW, Hughes KW, Matsuura K, Langer E, Langer G, Untereiner WA, Lucking R, Budel B, Geiser DM, Aptroot A, Diederich P, Schmitt I, Schultz M, Yahr R, Hibbett DS, Lutzoni F, McLaughlin DJ, Spatafora JW, Vilgalys R (2006) Reconstructing the early evolution of fungi using a six-gene phylogeny. Nature 443:818-822
- Jansen JM, Barry MF, Yoo CK, Weiss EL (2006) Phosphoregulation of Cbk1 is critical for RAM network control of transcription and morphogenesis. J Cell Biol 175:755-766
- Jedd G, Chua NH (2000) A new self-assembled peroxisomal vesicle required for efficient resealing of the plasma membrane. Nat Cell Biol 2:226–231
- Johnson AE, McCollum D, Gould KL (2012) Polar opposites: fine-tuning cytokinesis through SIN asymmetry. Cytoskeleton (Hoboken) 69:686–699
- Jonkers W, Leeder AC, Ansong C, Wang Y, Yang F, Starr TL, Camp DG II, Smith RD, Glass NL (2014) HAM-5 functions as a MAP kinase scaffold during cell fusion in *Neurospora crassa*. PLoS Genet 10:e1004783
- Justa-Schuch D, Heilig Y, Richthammer C, Seiler S (2010) Septum formation is regulated by the RHO4-specific exchange factors BUD3 and RGF3 and by the landmark protein BUD4 in *Neurospora crassa*. Mol Microbiol 76:220–235
- Kaminskyj SG (2000) Septum position is marked at the tip of *Aspergillus nidulans* hyphae. Fungal Genet Biol 31:105–113
- Kanai M, Kume K, Miyahara K, Sakai K, Nakamura K, Leonhard K, Wiley DJ, Verde F, Toda T, Hirata D (2005) Fission yeast MO25 protein is localized at

SPB and septum and is essential for cell morphogenesis. EMBO J 24:3012–3025

- Kang PJ, Angerman E, Jung CH, Park HO (2012) Bud4 mediates the cell-type-specific assembly of the axial landmark in budding yeast. J Cell Sci 125:3840-3849
- Kang PJ, Hood-DeGrenier JK, Park HO (2013) Coupling of septins to the axial landmark by Bud4 in budding yeast. J Cell Sci 126:1218–1226
- Kang PJ, Lee ME, Park HO (2014) Bud3 activates Cdc42 to establish a proper growth site in budding yeast. J Cell Biol 206:19–28
- Kaufmann A, Philippsen P (2009) Of bars and rings: Hof1-dependent cytokinesis in multiseptated hyphae of Ashbya gossypii. Mol Cell Biol 29:771–783
- Kelly MT, MacCallum DM, Clancy SD, Odds FC, Brown AJ, Butler G (2004) The *Candida albicans* CaACE2 gene affects morphogenesis, adherence and virulence. Mol Microbiol 53:969–983
- Kim JM, Lu L, Shao R, Chin J, Liu B (2006) Isolation of mutations that bypass the requirement of the septation initiation network for septum formation and conidiation in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Genetics 173:685–696
- Kim JM, Zeng CJ, Nayak T, Shao R, Huang AC, Oakley BR, Liu B (2009) Timely septation requires SNADdependent spindle pole body localization of the septation initiation network components in the filamentous fungus Aspergillus nidulans. Mol Biol Cell 20:2874–2884
- Knechtle P, Dietrich F, Philippsen P (2003) Maximal polar growth potential depends on the polarisome component AgSpa2 in the filamentous fungus Ashbya gossypii. Mol Biol Cell 14:4140–4154
- Konzack S, Rischitor PE, Enke C, Fischer R (2005) The role of the kinesin motor KipA in microtubule organization and polarized growth of *Aspergillus nidulans*. Mol Biol Cell 16:497–506
- Krapp A, Collin P, Cokoja A, Dischinger S, Cano E, Simanis V (2006) The Schizosaccharomyces pombe septation initiation network (SIN) is required for spore formation in meiosis. J Cell Sci 119:2882–2891
- Kraus PR, Harris SD (2001) The Aspergillus nidulans snt genes are required for the regulation of septum formation and cell cycle checkpoints. Genetics 159:557–569
- Lai J, Koh CH, Tjota M, Pieuchot L, Raman V, Chandrababu KB, Yang D, Wong L, Jedd G (2012) Intrinsically disordered proteins aggregate at fungal cell-to-cell channels and regulate intercellular connectivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:15781– 15786
- Laporte D, Zhao R, Wu JQ (2010) Mechanisms of contractile-ring assembly in fission yeast and beyond. Semin Cell Dev Biol 21:892–898
- Laporte D, Coffman VC, Lee IJ, Wu JQ (2011) Assembly and architecture of precursor nodes during fission yeast cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 192:1005–1021

- Latge JP, Beauvais A (2014) Functional duality of the cell wall. Curr Opin Microbiol 20:111–117
- Lee IJ, Wu JQ (2012) Characterization of Mid1 domains for targeting and scaffolding in fission yeast cytokinesis. J Cell Sci 125:2973–2985
- Lesage G, Bussey H (2006) Cell wall assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 70:317-343
- Lindsey R, Cowden S, Hernandez-Rodriguez Y, Momany M (2010) Septins AspA and AspC are important for normal development and limit the emergence of new growth foci in the multicellular fungus Aspergillus nidulans. Eukaryot Cell 9:155–163
- Lippincott J, Li R (1998) Sequential assembly of myosin II, an IQGAP-like protein, and filamentous actin to a ring structure involved in budding yeast cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 140:355–366
- Liu G, Young D (2012) Conserved Orb6 phosphorylation sites are essential for polarized cell growth in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. PLoS One 7:e37221
- Luo J, Vallen EA, Dravis C, Tcheperegine SE, Drees B, Bi E (2004) Identification and functional analysis of the essential and regulatory light chains of the only type II myosin Myo1p in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Cell Biol 165:843–855
- Lynch EM, Groocock LM, Borek WE, Sawin KE (2014) Activation of the gamma-tubulin complex by the Mto1/2 complex. Curr Biol 24:896–903
- Maerz S, Seiler S (2010) Tales of RAM and MOR: NDR kinase signaling in fungal morphogenesis. Curr Opin Microbiol 13:663–671
- Maerz S, Dettmann A, Ziv C, Liu Y, Valerius O, Yarden O, Seiler S (2009) Two NDR kinase-MOB complexes function as distinct modules during septum formation and tip extension in *Neurospora crassa*. Mol Microbiol 74:707–723
- Maerz S, Dettmann A, Seiler S (2012) Hydrophobic motif phosphorylation coordinates activity and polar localization of the *Neurospora crassa* nuclear Dbf2related kinase COT1. Mol Cell Biol 32:2083–2098
- Mah AS, Jang J, Deshaies RJ (2001) Protein kinase Cdc15 activates the Dbf2-Mob1 kinase complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:7325-7330
- Martin SG, Arkowitz RA (2014) Cell polarization in budding and fission yeasts. FEMS Microbiol Rev 38:228-253
- Mazur P, Baginsky W (1996) In vitro activity of 1,3beta-D-glucan synthase requires the GTP-binding protein Rho1. J Biol Chem 271:14604–14609
- McLaughlin DJ, Hibbett DS, Lutzoni F, Spatafora JW, Vilgalys R (2009) The search for the fungal tree of life. Trends Microbiol 17:488–497
- McMurray MA, Thorner J (2009) Reuse, replace, recycle. Specificity in subunit inheritance and assembly of higher-order septin structures during mitotic and meiotic division in budding yeast. Cell Cycle 8:195–203
- Meitinger F, Petrova B, Lombardi IM, Bertazzi DT, Hub B, Zentgraf H, Pereira G (2010) Targeted localization

of Inn1, Cyk3 and Chs2 by the mitotic-exit network regulates cytokinesis in budding yeast. J Cell Sci 123:1851–1861

- Meitinger F, Boehm ME, Hofmann A, Hub B, Zentgraf H, Lehmann WD, Pereira G (2011) Phosphorylation-dependent regulation of the F-BAR protein Hof1 during cytokinesis. Genes Dev 25:875-888
- Meitinger F, Palani S, Pereira G (2012) The power of MEN in cytokinesis. Cell Cycle 11:219–228
- Milne SW, Cheetham J, Lloyd D, Shaw S, Moore K, Paszkiewicz KH, Aves SJ, Bates S (2014) Role of *Candida albicans* Tem1 in mitotic exit and cytokinesis. Fungal Genet Biol 69:84–95
- Minke PF, Lee IH, Plamann M (1999) Microscopic analysis of Neurospora ropy mutants defective in nuclear distribution. Fungal Genet Biol 28:55–67
- Mogilevsky K, Glory A, Bachewich C (2012) The Pololike kinase PLKA in *Aspergillus nidulans* is not essential but plays important roles during vegetative growth and development. Eukaryot Cell 11:194–205
- Momany M, Hamer JE (1997) Relationship of actin, microtubules, and crosswall synthesis during septation in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 38:373–384
- Morrell JL, Tomlin GC, Rajagopalan S, Venkatram S, Feoktistova AS, Tasto JJ, Mehta S, Jennings JL, Link A, Balasubramanian MK, Gould KL (2004) Sid4p-Cdc11p assembles the septation initiation network and its regulators at the *S. pombe* SPB. Curr Biol 14:579–584
- Moseley JB (2015) Cytokinesis: does Mid1 have an identity crisis? Curr Biol 25:R364-R366
- Mourino-Perez RR, Riquelme M (2013) Recent advances in septum biogenesis in *Neurospora crassa*. Adv Genet 83:99–134
- Munoz S, Manjon E, Sanchez Y (2014) The putative exchange factor Gef3p interacts with Rho3p GTPase and the septin ring during cytokinesis in fission yeast. J Biol Chem 289:21995–22007
- Munro CA (2013) Chitin and glucan, the yin and yang of the fungal cell wall, implications for antifungal drug discovery and therapy. Adv Appl Microbiol 83:145–172
- Munro CA, Winter K, Buchan A, Henry K, Becker JM, Brown AJ, Bulawa CE, Gow NA (2001) Chs1 of *Candida albicans* is an essential chitin synthase required for synthesis of the septum and for cell integrity. Mol Microbiol 39:1414–1426
- Nelson B, Kurischko C, Horecka J, Mody M, Nair P, Pratt L, Zougman A, McBroom LD, Hughes TR, Boone C, Luca FC (2003) RAM: a conserved signaling network that regulates Ace2p transcriptional activity and polarized morphogenesis. Mol Biol Cell 14:3782–3803
- Nishihama R, Schreiter JH, Onishi M, Vallen EA, Hanna J, Moravcevic K, Lippincott MF, Han H, Lemmon MA, Pringle JR, Bi E (2009) Role of Inn1 and its

interactions with Hof1 and Cyk3 in promoting cleavage furrow and septum formation in *S. cerevisiae*. J Cell Biol 185:995–1012

- Oegema K, Savoian MS, Mitchison TJ, Field CM (2000) Functional analysis of a human homologue of the Drosophila actin binding protein anillin suggests a role in cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 150:539–552
- Oh Y, Chang KJ, Orlean P, Wloka C, Deshaies R, Bi E (2012) Mitotic exit kinase Dbf2 directly phosphorylates chitin synthase Chs2 to regulate cytokinesis in budding yeast. Mol Biol Cell 23:2445–2456
- Ohkura H, Hagan IM, Glover DM (1995) The conserved Schizosaccharomyces pombe kinase plo1, required to form a bipolar spindle, the actin ring, and septum, can drive septum formation in G1 and G2 cells. Genes Dev 9:1059–1073
- Padte NN, Martin SG, Howard M, Chang F (2006) The cell-end factor pom1p inhibits mid1p in specification of the cell division plane in fission yeast. Curr Biol 16:2480–2487
- Paoletti A, Chang F (2000) Analysis of mid1p, a protein required for placement of the cell division site, reveals a link between the nucleus and the cell surface in fission yeast. Mol Biol Cell 11:2757-2773
- Park HS, Yu JH (2012) Multi-copy genetic screen in Aspergillus nidulans. Methods Mol Biol 944:183– 190
- Piekny AJ, Glotzer M (2008) Anillin is a scaffold protein that links RhoA, actin, and myosin during cytokinesis. Curr Biol 18:30–36
- Piekny AJ, Maddox AS (2010) The myriad roles of anillin during cytokinesis. Semin Cell Dev Biol 21:881-891
- Pieuchot L, Jedd G (2012) Peroxisome assembly and functional diversity in eukaryotic microorganisms. Annu Rev Microbiol 66:237–263
- Plamann M, Minke PF, Tinsley JH, Bruno KS (1994) Cytoplasmic dynein and actin-related protein Arp1 are required for normal nuclear distribution in filamentous fungi. J Cell Biol 127:139–149
- Pollard TD, Wu JQ (2010) Understanding cytokinesis: lessons from fission yeast. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11:149–155
- Pringle A, Taylor J (2002) The fitness of filamentous fungi. Trends Microbiol 10:474-481
- Raju NB, Newmeyer D (1977) Giant ascospores and abnormal croziers in a mutant of *Neurospora crassa*. Exp Mycol 1:152–165
- Rasmussen CG, Glass NL (2005) A Rho-type GTPase, rho-4, is required for septation in *Neurospora crassa*. Eukaryot Cell 4:1913–1925
- Ray S, Kume K, Gupta S, Ge W, Balasubramanian M, Hirata D, McCollum D (2010) The mitosis-tointerphase transition is coordinated by cross talk between the SIN and MOR pathways in Schizosaccharomyces pombe. J Cell Biol 190:793–805
- Richthammer C, Enseleit M, Sanchez-Leon E, Marz S, Heilig Y, Riquelme M, Seiler S (2012) RHO1 and RHO2 share partially overlapping functions in the

regulation of cell wall integrity and hyphal polarity in *Neurospora crassa*. Mol Microbiol 85:716–733

- Riedl J, Crevenna AH, Kessenbrock K, Yu JH, Neukirchen D, Bista M, Bradke F, Jenne D, Holak TA, Werb Z, Sixt M, Wedlich-Soldner R (2008) Lifeact: a versatile marker to visualize F-actin. Nat Methods 5:605–607
- Rincon SA, Bhatia P, Bicho C, Guzman-Vendrell M, Fraisier V, Borek WE, Alves Fde L, Dingli F, Loew D, Rappsilber J, Sawin KE, Martin SG, Paoletti A (2014) Pom1 regulates the assembly of Cdr2-Mid1 cortical nodes for robust spatial control of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 206:61–77
- Riquelme M, Bartnicki-Garcia S (2004) Key differences between lateral and apical branching in hyphae of *Neurospora crassa*. Fungal Genet Biol 41:842–851
- Riquelme M, Bartnicki-García S (2008) Advances in understanding hyphal morphogenesis: ontogeny, phylogeny and cellular localization of chitin synthases. Fungal Biol Rev 22:56–70
- Riquelme M, Fischer R, Bartnicki-Garcia S (2003) Apical growth and mitosis are independent processes in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Protoplasma 222:211–215
- Roberts-Galbraith RH, Gould KL (2008) Stepping into the ring: the SIN takes on contractile ring assembly. Genes Dev 22:3082–3088
- Roberts-Galbraith RH, Ohi MD, Ballif BA, Chen JS, McLeod I, McDonald WH, Gygi SP, Yates JR III, Gould KL (2010) Dephosphorylation of F-BAR protein Cdc15 modulates its conformation and stimulates its scaffolding activity at the cell division site. Mol Cell 39:86–99
- Rock JM, Lim D, Stach L, Ogrodowicz RW, Keck JM, Jones MH, Wong CC, Yates JR III, Winey M, Smerdon SJ, Yaffe MB, Amon A (2013) Activation of the yeast Hippo pathway by phosphorylationdependent assembly of signaling complexes. Science 340:871–875
- Rodrigo G, Elena SF (2011) Structural discrimination of robustness in transcriptional feedforward loops for pattern formation. PLoS One 6:e16904
- Rosenberg JA, Tomlin GC, McDonald WH, Snydsman BE, Muller EG, Yates JR III, Gould KL (2006) Ppc89 links multiple proteins, including the septation initiation network, to the core of the fission yeast spindle-pole body. Mol Biol Cell 17:3793–3805
- Saha S, Pollard TD (2012) Anillin-related protein Mid1p coordinates the assembly of the cytokinetic contractile ring in fission yeast. Mol Biol Cell 23:3982–3992
- Samejima I, Miller VJ, Rincon SA, Sawin KE (2010) Fission yeast Mto1 regulates diversity of cytoplasmic microtubule organizing centers. Curr Biol 20:1959–1965
- Sampson K, Lew RR, Heath IB (2003) Time series analysis demonstrates the absence of pulsatile hyphal growth. Microbiology 149:3111–3119
- Sanchez-Diaz A, Marchesi V, Murray S, Jones R, Pereira G, Edmondson R, Allen T, Labib K (2008) Inn1

couples contraction of the actomyosin ring to membrane ingression during cytokinesis in budding yeast. Nat Cell Biol 10:395-406

- Sanchez-Leon E, Riquelme M (2015) Live imaging of beta-1,3-glucan synthase FKS-1 in *Neurospora crassa* hyphae. Fungal Genet Biol 82:104–107
- Saputo S, Kumar A, Krysan DJ (2014) Efg1 directly regulates ACE2 expression to mediate cross talk between the cAMP/PKA and RAM pathways during *Candida albicans* morphogenesis. Eukaryot Cell 13:1169–1180
- Schmidt S, Hofmann K, Simanis V (1997) Sce3, a suppressor of the Schizosaccharomyces pombe septation mutant cdc11, encodes a putative RNAbinding protein. Nucleic Acids Res 25:3433–3439
- Schmidt M, Bowers B, Varma A, Roh DH, Cabib E (2002) In budding yeast, contraction of the actomyosin ring and formation of the primary septum at cytokinesis depend on each other. J Cell Sci 115:293–302
- Seiler S, Justa-Schuch D (2010) Conserved components, but distinct mechanisms for the placement and assembly of the cell division machinery in unicellular and filamentous ascomycetes. Mol Microbiol 78:1058–1076
- Seiler S, Plamann M (2003) The genetic basis of cellular morphogenesis in the filamentous fungus *Neurospora crassa*. Mol Biol Cell 14:4352–4364
- Seiler S, Vogt N, Ziv C, Gorovits R, Yarden O (2006) The STE20/germinal center kinase POD6 interacts with the NDR kinase COT1 and is involved in polar tip extension in *Neurospora crassa*. Mol Biol Cell 17:4080-4092
- Shannon KB, Li R (2000) A myosin light chain mediates the localization of the budding yeast IQGAP-like protein during contractile ring formation. Curr Biol 10:727–730
- Shen KF, Osmani AH, Govindaraghavan M, Osmani SA (2014) Mitotic regulation of fungal cell-to-cell connectivity through septal pores involves the NIMA kinase. Mol Biol Cell 25:763–775
- Si H, Justa-Schuch D, Seiler S, Harris SD (2010) Regulation of septum formation by the Bud3-Rho4 GTPase module in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Genetics 185:165-176
- Si H, Rittenour WR, Xu K, Nicksarlian M, Calvo AM, Harris SD (2012) Morphogenetic and developmental functions of the *Aspergillus nidulans* homologues of the yeast bud site selection proteins Bud4 and Axl2. Mol Microbiol 85:252–270
- Singh NS, Shao N, McLean JR, Sevugan M, Ren L, Chew TG, Bimbo A, Sharma R, Tang X, Gould KL, Balasubramanian MK (2011) SIN-inhibitory phosphatase complex promotes Cdc11p dephosphorylation and propagates SIN asymmetry in fission yeast. Curr Biol 21:1968–1978
- Snaith HA, Sawin KE (2003) Fission yeast mod5p regulates polarized growth through anchoring of tea1p at cell tips. Nature 423:647-651

- Snaith HA, Samejima I, Sawin KE (2005) Multistep and multimode cortical anchoring of tea1p at cell tips in fission yeast. EMBO J 24:3690–3699
- Song S, Grenfell TZ, Garfield S, Erikson RL, Lee KS (2000) Essential function of the polo box of Cdc5 in subcellular localization and induction of cytokinetic structures. Mol Cell Biol 20:286–298
- Springer ML, Yanofsky C (1989) A morphological and genetic analysis of conidiophore development in *Neurospora crassa*. Genes Dev 3:559–571
- Stajich JE, Berbee ML, Blackwell M, Hibbett DS, James TY, Spatafora JW, Taylor JW (2009) The fungi. Curr Biol 19:R840–R845
- Straight AF, Cheung A, Limouze J, Chen I, Westwood NJ, Sellers JR, Mitchison TJ (2003) Dissecting temporal and spatial control of cytokinesis with a myosin II Inhibitor. Science 299:1743–1747
- Sudbery PE (2001) The germ tubes of *Candida albicans* hyphae and pseudohyphae show different patterns of septin ring localization. Mol Microbiol 41:19–31
- Sudbery PE (2011) Growth of *Candida albicans* hyphae. Nat Rev Microbiol 9:737–748
- Sugawara T, Sato M, Takagi T, Kamasaki T, Ohno N, Osumi M (2003) In situ localization of cell wall alpha-1,3-glucan in the fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. J Electron Microsc (Tokyo) 52:237-242
- Sun L, Guan R, Lee IJ, Liu Y, Chen M, Wang J, Wu JQ, Chen Z (2015) Mechanistic insights into the anchorage of the contractile ring by anillin and Mid1. Dev Cell 33:413–426
- Takeshita N, Fischer R (2011) On the role of microtubules, cell end markers, and septal microtubule organizing centres on site selection for polar growth in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Fungal Biol 115:506–517
- Takeshita N, Higashitsuji Y, Konzack S, Fischer R (2008) Apical sterol-rich membranes are essential for localizing cell end markers that determine growth directionality in the filamentous fungus *Aspergillus nidulans*. Mol Biol Cell 19:339–351
- Takeshita N, Manck R, Grun N, de Vega SH, Fischer R (2014) Interdependence of the actin and the microtubule cytoskeleton during fungal growth. Curr Opin Microbiol 20:34–41
- Tasto JJ, Morrell JL, Gould KL (2003) An anillin homologue, Mid2p, acts during fission yeast cytokinesis to organize the septin ring and promote cell separation. J Cell Biol 160:1093–1103
- Tatebe H, Shimada K, Uzawa S, Morigasaki S, Shiozaki K (2005) Wsh3/Tea4 is a novel cell-end factor essential for bipolar distribution of Tea1 and protects cell polarity under environmental stress in S. pombe. Curr Biol 15:1006–1015
- Teh EM, Chai CC, Yeong FM (2009) Retention of Chs2p in the ER requires N-terminal CDK1phosphorylation sites. Cell Cycle 8:2964–2974
- Teichert I, Steffens EK, Schnass N, Franzel B, Krisp C, Wolters DA, Kuck U (2014) PRO40 is a scaffold

protein of the cell wall integrity pathway, linking the MAP kinase module to the upstream activator protein kinase C. PLoS Genet 10:e1004582

- Tran PT, Marsh L, Doye V, Inoue S, Chang F (2001) A mechanism for nuclear positioning in fission yeast based on microtubule pushing. J Cell Biol 153:397– 411
- Trinci AP, Collinge AJ (1973) Structure and plugging of septa of wild type and spreading colonial mutants of *Neurospora crassa*. Arch Mikrobiol 91:355–364
- Ullal P, McDonald NA, Chen JS, Lo Presti L, Roberts-Galbraith RH, Gould KL, Martin SG (2015) The DYRK-family kinase Pom1 phosphorylates the F-BAR protein Cdc15 to prevent division at cell poles. J Cell Biol 211:653–668
- Upadhyay S, Shaw BD (2008) The role of actin, fimbrin and endocytosis in growth of hyphae in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Mol Microbiol 68:690–705
- Vargas-Muniz JM, Renshaw H, Richards AD, Lamoth F, Soderblom EJ, Moseley MA, Juvvadi PR, Steinbach WJ (2015) The Aspergillus fumigatus septins play pleiotropic roles in septation, conidiation, and cell wall stress, but are dispensable for virulence. Fungal Genet Biol 81:41–51
- Vavylonis D, Wu JQ, Hao S, O'Shaughnessy B, Pollard TD (2008) Assembly mechanism of the contractile ring for cytokinesis by fission yeast. Science 319:97-100
- Veith D, Scherr N, Efimov VP, Fischer R (2005) Role of the spindle-pole-body protein ApsB and the cortex protein ApsA in microtubule organization and nuclear migration in Aspergillus nidulans. J Cell Sci 118:3705–3716
- Verdin J, Bartnicki-Garcia S, Riquelme M (2009) Functional stratification of the Spitzenkorper of *Neu*rospora crassa. Mol Microbiol 74:1044–1053
- Vinck A, de Bekker C, Ossin A, Ohm RA, de Vries RP, Wosten HA (2011) Heterogenic expression of genes encoding secreted proteins at the periphery of Aspergillus niger colonies. Environ Microbiol 13:216–225
- Vogt N, Seiler S (2008) The RHO1-specific GTPaseactivating protein LRG1 regulates polar tip growth in parallel to Ndr kinase signaling in Neurospora. Mol Biol Cell 19:4554–4569
- Walker LA, Gow NA, Munro CA (2013) Elevated chitin content reduces the susceptibility of *Candida* species to caspofungin. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 57:146–154
- Wang A, Raniga PP, Lane S, Lu Y, Liu H (2009) Hyphal chain formation in *Candida albicans*: Cdc28-Hgc1 phosphorylation of Efg1 represses cell separation genes. Mol Cell Biol 29:4406-4416
- Wang N, Wang M, Zhu YH, Grosel TW, Sun D, Kudryashov DS, Wu JQ (2015) The Rho-GEF Gef3 interacts with the septin complex and activates the GTPase Rho4 during fission yeast cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 26:238-255

- Watanabe S, Okawa K, Miki T, Sakamoto S, Morinaga T, Segawa K, Arakawa T, Kinoshita M, Ishizaki T, Narumiya S (2010) Rho and anillin-dependent control of mDia2 localization and function in cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 21:3193–3204
- Weiss EL (2012) Mitotic exit and separation of mother and daughter cells. Genetics 192:1165–1202
- Weiss EL, Kurischko C, Zhang C, Shokat K, Drubin DG, Luca FC (2002) The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Mob2p-Cbk1p kinase complex promotes polarized growth and acts with the mitotic exit network to facilitate daughter cell-specific localization of Ace2p transcription factor. J Cell Biol 158:885–900
- Wendland J (2003) Analysis of the landmark protein Bud3 of *Ashbya gossypii* reveals a novel role in septum construction. EMBO Rep 4:200-204
- Wendland J, Walther A (2005) *Ashbya gossypii*: a model for fungal developmental biology. Nat Rev Microbiol 3:421–429
- Wightman R, Bates S, Amornrattanapan P, Sudbery P (2004) In *Candida albicans*, the Nim1 kinases Gin4 and Hsl1 negatively regulate pseudohypha formation and Gin4 also controls septin organization. J Cell Biol 164:581–591
- Wloka C, Bi E (2012) Mechanisms of cytokinesis in budding yeast. Cytoskeleton (Hoboken) 69:710– 726
- Wloka C, Nishihama R, Onishi M, Oh Y, Hanna J, Pringle JR, Krauss M, Bi E (2011) Evidence that a septin diffusion barrier is dispensable for cytokinesis in budding yeast. Biol Chem 392:813–829
- Wolkow TD, Harris SD, Hamer JE (1996) Cytokinesis in Aspergillus nidulans is controlled by cell size, nuclear positioning and mitosis. J Cell Sci 109(Pt 8):2179–2188
- Wosten HA, van Veluw GJ, de Bekker C, Krijgsheld P (2013) Heterogeneity in the mycelium: implications for the use of fungi as cell factories. Biotechnol Lett 35:1155–1164
- Wu JQ, Sirotkin V, Kovar DR, Lord M, Beltzner CC, Kuhn JR, Pollard TD (2006) Assembly of the cytokinetic contractile ring from a broad band of nodes in fission yeast. J Cell Biol 174:391–402
- Wu H, Guo J, Zhou YT, Gao XD (2015) The anillinrelated region of Bud4 is the major functional determinant for Bud4's function in septin organization during bud growth and axial bud site selection in budding yeast. Eukaryot Cell 14:241–251
- Xu Y, Moseley JB, Sagot I, Poy F, Pellman D, Goode BL, Eck MJ (2004) Crystal structures of a Formin Homology-2 domain reveal a tethered dimer architecture. Cell 116:711–723
- Yarden O, Plamann M, Ebbole DJ, Yanofsky C (1992) cot-1, a gene required for hyphal elongation in *Neurospora crassa*, encodes a protein kinase. EMBO J 11:2159–2166
- Yoshida S, Kono K, Lowery DM, Bartolini S, Yaffe MB, Ohya Y, Pellman D (2006) Polo-like kinase Cdc5

controls the local activation of Rho1 to promote cytokinesis. Science 313:108–111

- Zekert N, Veith D, Fischer R (2010) Interaction of the *Aspergillus nidulans* microtubule-organizing center (MTOC) component ApsB with gamma-tubulin and evidence for a role of a subclass of peroxisomes in the formation of septal MTOCs. Eukaryot Cell 9:795–805
- Zhang L, Maddox AS (2010) Anillin. Curr Biol 20:R135– R136
- Zhang G, Kashimshetty R, Ng KE, Tan HB, Yeong FM (2006) Exit from mitosis triggers Chs2p transport

from the endoplasmic reticulum to motherdaughter neck via the secretory pathway in budding yeast. J Cell Biol 174:207–220

- Zhou M, Wang YL (2008) Distinct pathways for the early recruitment of myosin II and actin to the cytokinetic furrow. Mol Biol Cell 19:318-326
- Ziv C, Kra-Oz G, Gorovits R, Marz S, Seiler S, Yarden O (2009) Cell elongation and branching are regulated by differential phosphorylation states of the nuclear Dbf2-related kinase COT1 in *Neurospora crassa*. Mol Microbiol 74:974–989